
  

 
Stayton City Council Agenda  Page 1 of 4 
June 19, 2017 

AGENDA 
STAYTON CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

Monday, June 19, 2017 
Stayton Community Center 

400 W. Virginia Street 
Stayton, Oregon  97383 

 
 
CALL TO ORDER   7:00 PM   Mayor Porter 
 
FLAG SALUTE 
 
ROLL CALL/STAFF INTRODUCTIONS 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS – PLEASE READ CAREFULLY 
Items not on the agenda but relevant to City business may be discussed at this meeting. Citizens are encouraged to attend all 
meetings of the City Council to insure that they stay informed. Agenda items may be moved forward if a Public Hearing is 
scheduled. 
a. Additions to the agenda 
b. Declaration of Ex Parte Contacts, Conflict of Interest, Bias, etc.  
 
 
PRESENTATIONS/COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
Request for Recognition:  If you wish to address the Council, please fill out a green “Request for Recognition” form.  
Forms are on the table at the back of the room. Recommended time for presentation is 10 minutes. Recommended 
time for comments from the public is 3 minutes. 
 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
a. June 5, 2017 City Council Minutes 
b. Acceptance of Abstract of Election Results – May 16, 2017 
c. CCRLS Amendment to Intergovernmental Agreement 2017-2018 

 
Purpose of the Consent Agenda: 
In order to make more efficient use of meeting time, resolutions, minutes, bills, and other items which are routine in nature and 
for which no debate is anticipated, shall be placed on the Consent Agenda.  Any item placed on the Consent Agenda may be 
removed at the request of any council member prior to the time a vote is taken.  All remaining items of the Consent Agenda are 
then disposed of in a single motion to adopt the Consent Agenda.  This motion is not debatable.  The Recorder to the Council will 
then poll the council members individually by a roll call vote.  If there are any dissenting votes, each item on the consent Agenda 
is then voted on individually by roll call vote.  Copies of the Council packets include more detailed staff reports, letters, 
resolutions, and other supporting materials.  A citizen wishing to review these materials may do so at Stayton City Hall, 362 N. 
Third Avenue, Stayton, or the Stayton Public Library, 515 N. First Avenue, Stayton. 

The meeting location is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the hearing impaired or other 
accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 hours prior to the meeting. If you require special 
accommodations contact Deputy City Recorder Alissa Angelo at (503) 769-3425. 



  

 
Stayton City Council Agenda  Page 2 of 4 
June 19, 2017 

PUBLIC HEARING 
Land Use File #1-02/17 – Application for Subdivision, 1103 Shaff Road, Hayden Homes, Inc.  
a. Commencement of Public Hearing 
b. Staff Introduction 
c. Applicant Presentation 
d. Staff Report 
e. Questions from the Council 
f. Proponents’ Testimony 
g. Opponents’ Testimony 
h. Governmental Agencies 
i. General Testimony 
j. Questions from the Public 
k. Questions from the Council 
l. Applicant Summary 
m. Staff Summary 
n. Close of Hearing 
o. Council Deliberation 
p. Council Decision 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS – None  
 
NEW BUSINESS 
Resolution No. 960, Authorizing Submittal of Grant Application to Bonneville  Action 
Environmental Foundation 
a. Staff Report – Dan Fleishman 
b. Council Deliberation 
c. Council Decision 
 
Charter Review Committee Proposed Changes      Action 
a. Staff Report – Keith Campbell 
b. Council Deliberation 
c. Council Decision 
 
Resolution No. 962, City Fees and Charges       Action 
a. Staff Report – Keith Campbell 
b. Council Deliberation 
c. Council Decision 
 
STAFF/COMMISSION REPORTS 
Finance Department Report – Cindy Chauran & Elizabeth Baldwin  Informational 
a. May 2017 Monthly Finance Department Report 
 
Police Chief’s Report – Chief Rich Sebens      Informational 
a. May 2017 Statistical Report 
 
 



  

 
Stayton City Council Agenda  Page 3 of 4 
June 19, 2017 

Public Works Director’s Report – Lance Ludwick     Informational 
a. May 2017 Operating Report 

 
Planning & Development Director’s Report – Dan Fleishman   Informational 
a. May 2017 Activities Report 
 
Library Director’s Report – Janna Moser      Informational 
a. May 2017 Activities 
 
PRESENTATIONS/COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
Recommended time for presentations is 10 minutes. 
Recommended time for comments from the public is 3 minutes. 
 
BUSINESS FROM THE CITY ADMINISTRATOR 
 
 
 
 
BUSINESS FROM THE MAYOR 
 
 
 
  
BUSINESS FROM THE COUNCIL 
 
 
 
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS – July 3, 2017 
• Meeting Cancelled 
 
ADJOURN 
 



  

 
Stayton City Council Agenda  Page 4 of 4 
June 19, 2017 

CALENDAR OF EVENTS 
JUNE 2017 

Monday June 19 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Wednesday June 21 Library Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 

Monday June 26 Planning Commission 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
JULY 2017 

Monday July 3 City Council Cancelled  
Tuesday July 4 CITY OFFICES CLOSED IN OBSERVANCE OF FOURTH OF JULY HOLIDAY 

Wednesday July 5 Parks & Recreation Board 6:30 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Tuesday July 11 Commissioner’s Breakfast 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café 
Friday July 14 Community Leaders 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café  

Monday July 17 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Wednesday July 19 Library Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 

Monday July 31 Planning Commission 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
AUGUST 2017 

Tuesday August 1 Parks & Recreation Board 6:30 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Tuesday August 1 National Night Out 6:00 p.m. Various City Parks 
Monday August 7 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Tuesday August 8 Commissioner’s Breakfast 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café 
Friday August 11 Community Leaders 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café  

Wednesday August 16 Library Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Monday August 21 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Monday August 28 Planning Commission 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

SEPTEMBER 2017 
Monday September 4 CITY OFFICES CLOSED IN OBSERVANCE OF LABOR DAY HOLIDAY 
Tuesday September 5 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

Wednesday September 6 Parks & Recreation Board 6:30 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Friday September 8 Community Leaders 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café  

Tuesday September 12 Commissioner’s Breakfast 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café 
Monday September 18 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

Wednesday September 20 Library Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Monday September 25 Planning Commission 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 

OCTOBER 2017 
Monday October 2 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Tuesday October 3 Parks & Recreation Board 6:30 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 
Tuesday October 10 Commissioner’s Breakfast 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café 
Friday October 13 Community Leaders 7:30 a.m. Covered Bridge Café  

Monday October 16 City Council 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
Wednesday October 18 Library Board 6:00 p.m. E.G. Siegmund Meeting Room 

Monday October 30 Planning Commission 7:00 p.m. Community Center (north end) 
 



 
Stayton City Council Meeting Minutes          Page 1 of 2 
June 5, 2017 

City of Stayton 
City Council Meeting Action Minutes 

June 5, 2017 

LOCATION:  STAYTON COMMUNITY CENTER, 400 W. VIRGINIA STREET, STAYTON 

Time Start: 7:00 P.M.     Time End: 7:45 P.M. 

COUNCIL MEETING ATTENDANCE LOG 

COUNCIL STAYTON STAFF  
Mayor Henry Porter Alissa Angelo, Deputy City Recorder 
Councilor Priscilla Glidewell Keith Campbell, City Administrator 
Councilor Mark Kronquist Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning & Development 
Councilor Jennifer Niegel (excused) Lance Ludwick, Public Works Director 
Councilor Brian Quigley  Janna Moser, Library Director 
Councilor Joe Usselman  Rich Sebens, Chief of Police 
 Andy Parks, Interim Financial Consultant 

 
AGENDA ACTIONS 

REGULAR MEETING 
Announcements 
a. Additions to the Agenda 
b. Declaration of Ex Parte Contacts, Conflict of Interest, Bias, etc. 

 
None. 
None. 

Presentations / Comments from the Public 
a. Presentation from Kevin Mannix on a Potential Railroad 

Connection 

 
Kevin Mannix and his associate Connor Harrington 
spoke about the importance of rail connections. 

Consent Agenda 
a. May 15, 2017 City Council Minutes 
b. Collective Bargaining Agreement with AFSCME Local 3222 

 
Motion from Councilor Kronquist, seconded by 
Councilor Glidewell, to approve the Consent 
Agenda as presented. Motion passed 4:0. 

Public Hearing 
Certifying Eligibility and Electing to Receive State Revenue 
Sharing Funds 
a. Staff Report – Andy Parks 
b. Open Public Hearing 
c. Public Hearing 
d. Close Public Hearing 
e. Council Deliberation 
f. Council Decision on Resolution No. 956 and Resolution No. 957 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
City of Stayton 2017-2018 Fiscal Year Budget 
a. Staff Report – Andy Parks 
b. Open Public Hearing 

 
 
 
Mr. Parks reviewed the staff report. 
Mayor Porter opened the hearing at 7:22 p.m. 
Brief discussion of gas tax and marijuana tax. 
Mayor Porter closed the hearing at 7:26 p.m. 
No discussion. 
Motion from Councilor Kronquist, seconded by 
Councilor Usselman, to approve Resolution No. 
956 as presented. Motion passed 4:0. 
 
Motion from Councilor Kronquist, seconded by 
Councilor Usselman, to approve Resolution No. 
957 as presented. Motion passed 4:0. 
 
 
Mr. Parks reviewed the staff report.  
Mayor Porter opened the hearing at 7:33 p.m. 



 
Stayton City Council Meeting Minutes          Page 2 of 2 
June 5, 2017 

c. Public Hearing 
d. Close Public Hearing 
e. Council Deliberation 
f. Council Decision on Resolution No. 958, Adopting the FY 2017-

2018 City Budget, Making Appropriations, and Levying 
Property Taxes for the Fiscal Year 

None. 
Mayor Porter closed the hearing at 7:34 p.m. 
None. 
Motion from Councilor Kronquist, seconded by 
Councilor Glidewell, to adopt Resolution No. 958 
as presented. Motion passed 4:0. 

Unfinished Business None. 
New Business 
Resolution No. 959, Fiscal Year 2016-17 Budget Appropriations 
Transfers 
a. Staff Report – Andy Parks 
b. Council Discussion 
c. Council Decision 
 

 
 
 
Mr. Parks reviewed the staff report. 
None. 
Motion from Councilor Kronquist, seconded by 
Councilor Quigley, to approve Resolution No. 959 
as presented. Motion passed 4:0. 

Staff / Commission Reports   
Presentations / Comments From the Public 
a. Judy Mohney 

 
Ms. Mohney thanked the City for making 
information easily accessible. She also spoke about 
the recent Tour of Possibilities in downtown 
Stayton. Councilor Quigley thanked Ms. Mohney 
for her work on the Charter Review Committee.  

Business from the Mayor Mayor Porter spoke about the recent passing of 
Bruce Phillipi.  

Business from the Council None. 
Business from City Administrator Mr. Campbell briefly spoke about the passage of 

the recent gas tax in the May election. 
Future Agenda Items – Monday, June 5, 2017 
a. Revised Fee Schedule 
b. City of Stayton Charter 
c. CCRLS Agreement 
d. Hayden Homes Appeal Hearing 

APPROVED BY THE STAYTON CITY COUNCIL THIS 19TH DAY OF JUNE 2017, BY A ____ VOTE OF THE STAYTON CITY 
COUNCIL. 

Date:    By:   
  Henry A. Porter, Mayor 
 
Date:   Attest:   

 Keith D. Campbell, City Administrator 
       
Date:  Transcribed by:        
   Alissa Angelo, Deputy City Recorder 



 
Acceptance of Abstract of Election Results – May 16, 2017 Page 1 of 1  
June 19, 2017 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 
TO: Mayor Henry A. Porter and the Stayton City Council 
 
FROM: Alissa Angelo, Deputy City Recorder 
 
DATE: June 19, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Acceptance of Abstract of Election Results – May 16, 2017 
  
     
STAFF RECOMENDATION 
 
By consent, accept the Abstract of Election Results. 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
ORS 255.295 requires that a local government review and acknowledge acceptance of an 
Abstract of Election Results, prepared by the county elections department, in connection with 
an election within its jurisdiction. 
 
For your information, an Undervote occurs when the number of choices selected by a voter is 
less than the maximum number allowed for that contest or when no selection is made for a 
single choice contest. An Overvote occurs when one votes for more than the maximum number 
of selections allowed in a contest. 
 
FACTS AND FINDINGS 
 
An election was held on May 16, 2017 and citizens of Stayton cast votes for the following: 
 

• Gas Tax on Motor Fuels 
 
OPTIONS 
 
Accept the Abstract of Election Results 
          
MOTION(S) 
 
Consent Agenda approval. 





 
Monthly Library Report  Page 1 of 2  
 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 
TO:   Mayor Porter and the Stayton City Council 
 
FROM:  Janna Moser - Library Director 
 
DATE:   June 19, 2017 
 
SUBJECT:  Renewal of Chemeketa Community Regional Library Service 

contract 
  
 
 
ISSUE 
CCRLS annual contract renewal 
 
ENCLOSURES 
Amendment to Intergovernmental Agreement-Contract #10196400, Amendment #04 
Attachment A; Exhibit 1 to Amendment 04 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
CCRLS was formed in 1973 to help provide library services in the tri-county area, with its service 
boundaries the same as those of Chemeketa Community College. All residents currently pay 
$.08 per thousand to CCRLS services. From those tax dollars an annual reimbursement is 
provided to member libraries based 50% on the assessed valuation of property in the local 
service area and 50% on the number of items circulated to non-residents in addition to the 
services outlined below.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Disbursement to the Stayton Public Library of $83,315 for FY2017-18. 
Quarterly reimbursements for net lending at $1.50 per item.  
Continued participation in the Cooperative which provides these services at no additional 
charge: 

• SirsiDynix Symphony (the Integrated Library System) 
• RFID technology, equipment and suppleis 
• Courier service 5 days a week 
• Fiber optic internet connection, network support and security 
• IT support 24/7 
• Computers - six OPACS, five circulation, one reservation station and one Self-Check  
• Scanners and thermal receipt printers 
• Envisionware PC reservation system, additional software and licensing 



 
Monthly Library Report  Page 2 of 2  
 

• Reimbursement for materials lost by non-Stayton patrons 
• Access to OCLC WorldCat for lending 
• Training, and mileage reimbursement to trainings and meetings  
• Original cataloging for materials 
• Online resources, databases and e-books 
• Patron access to over 500,000 items 
• E-commerce (for patrons to pay fees online) 
• Collection agency service 

 
OPTIONS 
Approve, deny or direct modification of the proposed agreement 
        
MOTION(S) 
N/A Included as a consent agenda item 
 























1 
 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Henry Porter and the Stayton City Council 

 FROM: Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning and Development 

 DATE: June 19, 2017 

 SUBJECT: Applicant’s Appeal of Conditions of Approval by Planning 
Commission 

 120 DAYS ENDS:  waived by applicant until July 19, 2017 
  
 
ISSUE 

The issue before the City Council is a public hearing on an appeal by Hayden Homes, LLC 
regarding the Planning Commission’s conditions of approval on their application to subdivide 
the property at 1103 Shaff Road.   The City Council accepted the appeal at its June 15 meeting 
and scheduled this public hearing.  The City Council scheduled the hearing as a de novo hearing, 
which brings the entire review of the subdivision application under the jurisdiction of the City 
Council. 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Staff will be entering into the City Council record all of the application and review materials that 
were before the Planning Commission.  Whereas the appeal addresses only the conditions of 
approval imposed by the Planning Commission regarding traffic impacts and street 
improvements, the entire application packet and review materials have not been included in 
the City Council’s packet.  All of the submission items and review memoranda are still posted on 
the City’s website.  Any City Council member who would like to review more information, may 
find them at http://www.staytonoregon.gov/page/gov_planning_agendas_minutes. 

The packet includes only the information relative to the issues being raised on appeal.   
Included in the packet are the following documents: 

 The application for subdivision approval with the applicant’s narrative and the plans 
submitted at the time 

 Executed order of approval from Planning Commission 

 Appeal form and letter from applicant 

 June 8 letter from Alan Sorem 

 June 8 email from MCPW 

 Shaff Road striping diagram and cross section 



2 
 

The City Council was previously provided the technical information regarding traffic impacts 
and street improvements.  These are all posted on the website cited above and not provided to 
the Council again.  If Council members want copies to review prior to or at the hearing, Alissa 
will print them for you if you request. 

ANALYSIS 

The appellant submitted an application for a 51-lot subdivision for the 13-acre parcel to the 
west of the Stayton Middle School.  The subdivision has frontage on Shaff Road.  The planning 
Commission held a public hearing on the application on February 27, 2017.  At the public 
hearing, staff presented its analysis of the application and a draft order that would have 
imposed three conditions of approval.  Among the review documents were memoranda from 
the City’s transportation engineering consultant, Kittelson Associates, and from Marion County 
Public Works that requested clarification and corrections on the applicant’s Transportation 
Impact Analysis.  An addendum to the TIA was submitted the afternoon of the public hearing.  
Because there was not adequate time to review the addendum, the Planning Commission 
closed the public hearing, but kept the record open for written testimony regarding the issue of 
traffic impacts and scheduled deliberations on the application for their March 27 meeting.   

At the Planning Commission’s February 27 hearing, the applicant testified they had an objection 
to only one of the proposed conditions of approval, dealing with Section 17.26.020.5.c, which 
establishes a maximum block length of 600 feet.  Staff had suggested a condition that required 
the subdivision to be redesigned to meet this standard and the applicant suggested an 
alternative to moving the streets.  On April 10, the Planning Commission found the application 
could be made consistent with the Land Use and Development Code with certain modifications 
and conditions, and granted approval with a number of conditions.  The Planning Commission 
modified the condition of approval for compliance with Section 17.26.020.c to allow for a mid-
block walk rather than shortening the length of the block. 

There are two conditions of approval that the applicant has objected to in their appeal:  the 
requirement to construct an east-bound left turn lane on Shaff Rd at Kindle and the 
requirement to complete a half street improvement along the applicant’s frontage along Shaff 
Rd.  It should be noted that the draft order presented to the Planning Commission at their 
February hearing did not include the condition of approval for an east-bound left turn lane.  It 
did, however, include the requirement for a half street improvement and for review and 
approval of the plans by Marion Co.  The applicant did not object to this condition of approval 
before the Planning Commission. 

Half Street Improvement 

There are two sections of the municipal code that have control.  Section 12.04.030.1 states  

1. Except as provided in Sections 12.04.040 through 12.04.380 of this chapter, no 
person shall construct any building or structure or parking lot improvements within 
the City and no parcel of land shall be divided within the City, unless: 

a. The street(s) and sidewalk(s) bordering such lot or area are fully improved to 
City standards and 

b. The right-of-way adjacent to the property has been dedicated to the City of 
Stayton, Marion County or the State of Oregon 



3 
 

 All street improvements and right-of-way dedications shall comply with the 
requirements of this Chapter, the Stayton Transportation System Plan, SMC Chapter 
12.08 “Standard Specifications”, and SMC Chapter 17.26 “Transportation 
Requirements”. 

Section 17.26.050.12 establishes the conditions of approval that should be considered as part 
of every land use action and includes 

d. Half-street improvements along site frontages that do not have full-buildout improvements in 
place at the time of development. 

As part of their application, the applicant proposed improvements to Shaff Road to expand the 
pavement and construct a 12-foot multi-use pathway along the north right of way line.  Their 
application included the following diagram to illustrate their proposal for improvements to 
Shaff Rd (see sheet C9 of the attached subdivision plans). 

 

Shaff Road does not have full-buildout improvements along the frontage of the subject 
property.  Shaff Road is classified as a Minor Arterial street by the City’s Transportation System 
Plan.  The Stayton Public Works Design Standards (PWDS) call for full-buildout improvements to 
Shaff Road of a 50-foot improvement width with two 12-foot travel lanes and a 14-foot center 
left turn lane; two 6-foot bicycle lanes and no on-street parking.  The PWDS also call for an 8-
foot property line sidewalk and a 6-foot landscape area between curb and sidewalk.  A portion 
of the Geometric Design Requirements table from the PWDs is reproduced below. 

Construction of the above specifications from the PWDS would require relocation of the 
franchise utility transmission poles in order to accommodate the 25-foot half-street 
improvement.  Whereas the transmission poles are estimated to cost $75,000 each to move, 
the City developed an alternative improvement section for the portion of Shaff Road between  



4 
 

 

Kindle Way and Cascade Highway when the design for improvements associated with the 
Wildlife Meadows subdivision was being discussed. 

The alternative improvement section developed by the City of Stayton for this section of Shaff 
Road calls for only a 42-foot improvement width without a bicycle lane on the north side.  The 
sidewalk is expanded from 8 feet in width to a 12-foot multi-use path to accommodate bicycle 
and pedestrian traffic.  This allows the power transmission poles to remain in place and avoids 
close to a $1 million in relocation costs over the length of Shaff Road.  There are three 
transmission poles on the subject property, saving over $200,000 in relocation costs to the 
applicant and will reduce costs of street widening. 

After substantial discussion with Marion County Public Works, the alternative improvement 
section was acceptable to Marion County.  This alternative improvement section has now been 
constructed to the east of the Stayton Middle School and improvements designed in 
accordance with the alternative improvement section have been approved by MCPW and the 
City for the frontage of the Stayton Middle School and are anticipated to be constructed during 
the summer of 2017. 

Shaff Road is a Marion County maintained street.  Therefore, Marion County has jurisdiction 
over improvements to the street and intersections involving Shaff Rd.  Regardless of the City’s 
land use process or conditions of approval, any work within the Shaff Rd right of way requires a 
permit from MCPW.  The Planning Commission’s condition of approval that is under appeal 
requires submission of engineered constructions plans and supporting documentation to be 
submitted to the City and to MCPW (as applicable) for review and approval prior to the 
issuance of the City’s Site Development Permit.  The condition requires 

Prior to issuance of a Site Development Permit, the Developer shall provide written 
documentation that Marion County Public Works has reviewed and approved the Shaff Road 
street improvement plans.  The Developer shall design, permit and construct up to a half-
street urban frontage improvement adjacent to the Shaff Road property frontage in 
accordance with appropriate City and County standards… 

The condition to construct a half-street improvement is required by Section 12.04.030.1 which 
requires the street and sidewalk to be fully improved in association with the division of 
property within the City and Section 17.26.050.12.d which indicates that conditions of approval 
to require half-street improvements shall be evaluated for all land use proceedings. 

Included in the packet are two pieces of correspondence from June 8, 2017.  The first is a letter 
from the applicant’s attorney.  The second is an email from John Rasmussen of Marion County 
Public Works.  Together, the two documents constitute an agreement for proposed 
improvements to Shaff Rd.  The applicant and the County have agreed to provide a 35.5 –foot 
improvement with curb and gutter on the north side, a 7-foot landscape strip and 12-foot 
multi-use path.  The applicant appears to have agreed to add a minimal amount of paving and 
assure there is a 4.5-foot gravel shoulder on the south side of the street. 



5 
 

East-bound Left Turn Lane 

The applicant’s TIA studied the operation of a number of intersections, including the 
intersection of Kindle Way and Shaff Rd.  The TIA noted that this intersection currently operates 
at Level of Service C during the morning, afternoon, and evening peak hours.  The TIA 
concluded that this intersection would continue to operate at LOS C in 2019, following build-out 
of the subdivision. (page 14)  The TIA concluded that a left turn lane at the Kindle Way 
intersection for eastbound traffic on Shaff Rd would not be warranted. 

While Kittelson’s review of the TIA asked for some clarifications and additional information, 
there were no comments regarding the operation of the subject intersection.  MCPW’s review 
of the TIA noted that the TIA did not cite the methodology used in the left turn lane warrant 
analysis.  MCPW noted that the County uses the Texas Transportation Institute methodology, 
provided in the ODOT publication, Analysis Procedures Manual Version 1 to determine if left-
turn warrants are met. MCPW indicated that this methodology suggests that the criteria for an 
eastbound left turn lane on Shaff Road at Kindle Way are met.  Therefore, MCPW requested the 
Planning Commission impose a condition of approval that requires construction of an 
eastbound left turn lane on Shaff Rd at Kindle Way, with associated widening and tapers. 

In response to the review comments from Kittelson and MCPW, the applicant submitted an 
addendum to the TIA.  The TIA Addendum notes that the methodology preferred by the County 
may not be appropriate in the current situation and further noted that the left-turn lane 
warrants are not mandates but are intended to serve as guidance. (page 6) 

Kittelson replied to the TIA Addendum by noting they “have no further technical comments.” In 
response to a question from staff, Kittelson clarified that “the City’s standards will be met 
without the eastbound left turn lane.“ 

MCPW’s March 13 letter noted that the original TIA did not address left-turn lane warrants at 
Shaff Road to Kindle Way.  The basis for the requested condition was satisfaction of a left-turn 
lane warrant analysis prepared by county staff based upon left-turning volumes projected by 
the TIA.  The March 13 letter states Shaff Rd is designated an arterial street by both the County 
and by the City’s TSP, and that impeding traffic speeds is not viewed as advantageous.  Finally, 
MCPW pointed out that the left turn lane would be consistent with the frontage improvements 
adjacent to the proposed Lambert Place subdivision, Stayton Middle School, and Wildlife 
Meadows development.  

Based on the record in front of it and the correspondence noted above and fully included in 
your packet, the Planning Commission included the condition of approval requested by Marion 
County and required construction of the eastbound left turn lane.  Staff recommends the City 
Council include the same condition in its approval. 

The appeal raised the issue that as a “needed housing” development, ORS 197.307(4) requires 
the City to apply only clear and objective standards, conditions and procedures to the 
application.  The appeal argues that one of the Planning Commission’s conditions is not clear 
and objective.   

The draft order provided to the City Council is modified from the Order of Approval from the 
Planning Commission by the inclusion of reference to two additional sections of Code.  Section 
17.26.050.10 address intersection operation standards and Section 17.26.050.12 specifies the 



6 
 

conditions of approval that should be considered as part of a subdivision application.  These 
standards are clear and objective.  The draft order includes findings and conclusions relative to 
these standards, that were not included in the Planning Commission order. 

The appellant has argued that the condition of approval to obtain approval from Marion County 
Public Works prior to commencing construction of improvements to a County-maintained 
street is not a clear and objective condition, because the condition of approval does not specify 
the standards by which approval will be granted and is an improper delegation of the City’s 
authority to MCPW. 

The applicant’s June 8 letter requests that City Council include a “finding” that a portion of the 
Shaff Rd improvements are “qualified public improvements,” as defined in Section 13.12.205 of 
the Stayton Municipal Code.  Staff has not included such a finding in the draft order, believing 
that it is inappropriate to do so.  The applicant has not requested such a finding regarding the 
conditions of approval that a 12-inch sewer line be installed in the development or that a 10-
inch water line be installed in the project.  If a required improvement is a qualified public 
improvement, the developer is due reimbursement for some of the costs for its installation.  
Section 13.12.245 spells out the procedures for granting credits to the developer for future 
SDCs based on the costs of construction qualified public improvements.  Working out the 
extent of those credits is an administrative function carried out by the Public Works 
Department with the assistance of the City Attorney.  It is not proper or necessary for the Order 
of Approval under the land use process to state whether there are qualified public 
improvements or not and failure to do so does not impact the City’s obligation to provide SDC 
credits to the applicant. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends the City Council approve the application with conditions and has provided a 
draft order which reflects the Staff’s recommendation.  The draft order provided to the City 
Council includes two of the three conditions of approval that were imposed by the Planning 
Commission.  The third condition of approval from the Planning Commission required revision 
or supplementation of the Transportation Impact Analysis.  This was accomplished prior to the 
close of the record before the Planning Commission and this condition should have been 
removed before final order of approval was adopted. 

The draft order presented to the City Council resembles the Planning Commission’s order, but 
has additional Code standards and findings inserted.  The City Council’s draft order includes 
findings relative to Section 17.26.050.10 and Section 17.26.050.12, which were not cited in the 
Planning Commission’s order.  The draft order reflects the agreement on Shaff Rd 
improvements that are documented in the June 8 correspondence from the applicant and 
MCPW. 

OPTIONS AND MOTIONS 

Staff has provided the City Council with a number of options, each with an appropriate motion. 
The Planning and Development Department recommends the first option.  



7 
 

1. Approve the application, adopting the draft order as presented. 

I move the Stayton City Council approve the application of Hayden Homes for preliminary 
subdivision plan approval (Land Use File #1-02/17) and adopt the draft order presented by 
Staff. 

2. Approve the application, adopting modifications to the draft order.  

I move the Stayton City Council approve the application of Hayden Homes for preliminary 
subdivision plan approval (Land Use File #1-02/17) and adopt the draft order with the 
following changes... 

3. Approve the application, directing staff to modify the draft order. 

I move the Stayton City Council approve the application of Hayden Homes for preliminary 
subdivision plan approval (Land Use File #1-02/17) and direct staff to modify the draft order 
to reflect the City Council’s discussion and bring a revised draft order for City Council 
approval at the July 17, 2017 meeting. 

4. Deny the application, directing staff to modify the draft order. 

I move that the Stayton City Council deny the application Hayden Homes for preliminary 
subdivision plan approval (Land Use File #1-02/17) and direct staff to modify the draft order 
to reflect the City Council’s discussion and bring a revised draft order for City Council 
approval at the July 17, 2017 meeting. 

5. Continue the hearing until July 17, 2017. 

I move the Stayton City Council continue the public hearing on the application of Hayden 
Homes for preliminary subdivision plan approval (Land Use File #1-02/17) until July 17, 
2017. 

6. Close the hearing but keep the record open for submission of written testimony. 

I move the Stayton City Council close the hearing on the application of Hayden Homes for 
preliminary subdivision plan approval (Land Use File #1-02/17) but maintain the record 
open to submissions by the applicant until July 3, allowing 7 days for review and rebuttal 
and then an additional 7 days for the applicant to reply, with final closure of the record on 
July 17, 2017. 

7. Close the hearing and record, and continue the deliberation to the next meeting. 

I move the Stayton City Council continue the deliberation on the application of Hayden 
Homes for preliminary subdivision plan approval (Land Use File #1-02/17) until July 17, 
2017.  























STREET D

STREET A

S
T

R
E

E
T

 C

S
T

R
E

E
T

 B

35

36 37 38 39 40 41 42 43 16 15
14

13

12

11

10

9

8

7

654321

30

31

32

33

34

26

51

50
49

25 24

48 47

23 22

46 45

21 20

44
17

18

19

KINDLE WAY SE

(M
A

R
K

E
T

 R
O

A
D

 8
5)

S
H

A
F

F
 R

D
 S

E

E
A

G
L

E
 S

T

M
EA

D
O

W
LA

R
K

 D
R

29

28 27

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
SU

R
VE

YI
N

G
FO

R
ES

TR
Y

N
A

TU
R

A
L 

R
ES

O
U

R
C

ES
LA

N
D

SC
A

PE
 A

R
C

H
IT

EC
TU

R
E

PL
A

N
N

IN
G

L
A

M
B

E
R

T
 P

L
A

C
E

S
T

A
Y

T
O

N
S

T
A

Y
T

O
N

O
R

E
G

O
N

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTION

P
R

E
L

IM
IN

A
R

Y
 P

L
A

T

C3

NOTE:























































June 8, 2017

VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL: DFIeishman@ci.stayton.or.us

Original to follow via first class mail

City of Stayton Planning Department
Attn: Daniel Fleishman

362 North Third Ave

Stayton OR 97383

Saalfeld
Griggs

RE: Lambert Subdivision

Our File No: 27825

City Land Use File: 1-02/17

Dear Mr. Fleishman:

On April 25, 2017, the Hayden Homes, LLC (the "Applicant") filed an appeal regarding related to the
Lambert Subdivision, City Land Use File 1-02/17. The City Council for the City of Stayton accepted the
appeal, which will review, at least in part, issues raised concerning the previously recommended
conditions of approval by MCPW Engineering. On June 6, 2017, the Applicant and MCPW Engineering
discussed the following condition of approval l.a. (the "Condition") together with the applicable
County standards to be applied for the related right-of-way construction work. The Condition states in
relevant part:

"Prior to plat approval. Developer shall design, permit and construct an exclusive east
bound left-turn lane on Shaff Road at Kindle Way, with associated widening and tapers."

You are now in possession of a supplemental letter from MCPW Engineering providing additional
comments regarding the expected application of the MCPW Engineering standards in evaluating
compliance with the Condition. Based on this letter. Applicant requests that the City of Stayton (the
"City") adopt the following supplemental finding:

"Prior to plat approval. Developer shall design, permit and construct an exclusive east
bound left-turn lane on Shaff Road at Kindle Way, with associated widening and tapers.
These improvements shall be made subject to the application of the MCPW Engineering
standards as represented to Applicant on June 6, 2017, and memorialized in the letter
addressed to the City of Stayton and dated June 8, 2017, a copy of which is attached
hereto (together with Exhibit A thereto) and is incorporated into the Decision by this
reference."

Park Place, Suite 200
250 Church Street SE

Salem, Oregon 97301

Post Office Box 470
Salem, Oregon 97308

tel 503.399.1070

fax 503.371.2927

www.sglaw.com



June 8, 2017

City of Stayton Planning Department
Page 2

Under Section 13.12.205{4}{b) of the City of Stayton Municipal Code (the "Code") the Condition meets
the definition of a Qualified Public Improvement. As such, Applicant Is entitled to the reimbursement via
a System Development Charge ("SDC") for any development cost beyond the City's standards as
established in Section 13.12.225.2 of the Code. Without waiver of any other claim for SDC Credits or
other reimbursements. Applicant requests that the City adopt the following supplemental finding:

"The City further finds that the required design and construction costs of the eastbound
turn lane and frontage improvements as more particularly described In the Marion
County Public Works Engineer letter dated June 8, 2017 (including the exhibits thereto)
exceeds the City's minimum standard facility size and capacity requirements, and that
portion of the work required for satisfaction of Condition l.a. that requires a four foot
(4') widening of Shaff Road is a qualified public improvement for purposes of
13.12.205(4)(b)."

If the City adopts both of the proceeding supplemental findings, Applicant is willing to withdraw Its
objection to the conditions of approval concerning the original order.

Finally, David Karr of AKS Engineering & Forestry, LLC has provided an estimate of construction costs for
the requested improvements with a calculation of Applicant's proportionate share responsibility, which
Is attached hereto a]>(^ incorporated herein as Exhibit "A." Please include these estimates into the
record.

Sincerely

M.Sorem

asorem@sglaw.com

Voice Message #303

AMS:myg

Enclosures

4811-2436-4362, v. 3



June 8, 2017

City of Stayton Planning Department
Page 3

Tualatin • Vancouver • Salem-Keizer

4300 Cherry Avenue NE - Keizer. OR 97303

Exhibit A

Enqineering & Forestry

June 8, 2017

Lambert Subdivision

Shaff Road Improvements

P; (503) 400^020 F: (503) 400-7722

Detailed below are the estimated construction costs for each improvement option, along with
the calculated proportionate share responsibility based on the percentage of contributing
traffic.

Left-Turn Lane with Eastbound Improvements

Background traffic volumes along frontage (all eastbound traffic except the site): 12
Site-generated traffic on Shaff Road (Site generated eastbound only): 8
Total traffic eastbound on Shaff Road: 20

Our proportion: 40%

Construction Cost: $103,650
Proportionate Share: $41,460

Shaff Road Frontage Improvements

Background traffic volumes along frontage (combined eastbound and westbound): 841
Site-generated traffic along frontage: 39
Total traffic along frontage: 880
Our proportion; 4.4%

Construction Cost; $576,054

Proportionate Share: $25,346

Sincerely,

AKS ENGINEERING FORESTRY, LLC

David Karr, PE,



1

Dan Fleishman

From: John Rasmussen <jrasmussen@co.marion.or.us>

Sent: Thursday, June 08, 2017 4:47 PM

To: Dan Fleishman

Cc: davidk@aks-eng.com; Alan Haley; Cindy Schmitt; epeterson@hayden-homes.com; 

asorem@sglaw.com; Mark D. Shipman

Subject: Lambert Property Appeal; Agreed Upon Street Section

Attachments: 5519 20170608 SHAFFRD STRIPING2.pdf

Dan, 

 

MCPW Engineering has conducted meetings and further discussions with the Lambert Development team, including 

their legal representatives.   We have reached a consensus on the Shaff Road typical cross-section that was in 

dispute.  A PDF of the concept section by AKS as agreed to by both sides is attached.  Furthermore and to 

substantiate the drawing, the following points may be noted for clarity: 

 

 The applicable standard for the eastbound and westbound travel lanes shall be 12’ in width. 

 The applicable standard for the center-turn lane shall be 11’ in width. 
 The applicable standard for the maximum pavement width shall be 35.5’, which includes a 0.5’ pavement 

section of the southern shoulder and 4.5’ gravel shoulder.  A minor deviation to this will be  a 
westbound curb taper on the north side of Shaff Road, immediately east Kindle Way. 

 Power pole relocation along the subject property frontage is not necessarily anticipated given the city 
modified street cross-section to accommodate same, with an exception being that which is located 
approximately at the northeast corner of Kindle Way and Shaff Road.”. 

 The County will not require the Applicant to install a 5’ bicycle lane on the south side of the Shaff Road 
improvements.  The existing A/C path on the south side will serve as mixed use. 

 The County will not require the Applicant to install a curb on the south side of the Shaff Road 
improvements.  

 Impact to / conflict with the storm sewer trunkline on the south side of Shaff Road is not anticipated. 
 
The foregoing including drawing attachment constitutes  our agreement with the Developer and recommendation 
to the City as a Supplemental Finding  to Condition 1(a), but is not intended to replace the Condition as already 
approved.   
 
John Rasmussen 
MCPW Engineering Land Dev 

 



LEGEND

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
SU

R
VE

YI
N

G
FO

R
ES

TR
Y

N
A

TU
R

A
L 

R
ES

O
U

R
C

ES
LA

N
D

SC
A

PE
 A

R
C

H
IT

EC
TU

R
E

PL
A

N
N

IN
G

L
A

M
B

E
R

T
 P

L
A

C
E

S
U

B
D

IV
IS

IO
N

S
T

A
Y

T
O

N
O

R
E

G
O

N

S
H

A
F

F
 R

D
 S

E
L

E
F

T
 T

U
R

N
 L

A
N

E
C

O
N

C
E

P
T

U
A

L
 P

L
A

N

C1

K
IN

D
L

E
 W

A
Y

 S
E

SHAFF ROAD SE
LEFT TURN LANE

STRIPING AND TAPER

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTION

35 MPH POSTED SPEED

SHAFF RD CROSS SECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CURB & GUTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIKE LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING EOP (TYP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET WIDENING BY  CITY OF STAYTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW EDGE OF GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW EDGE OF PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING EOP (TYP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
MULTI-USE PATH

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW AC PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGNED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
AKS DRAWING FILE: 5519 SHAFF RD STRIPING2.DWG | LAYOUT: C1  5519 SHAFF RD STRIPING2.DWG | LAYOUT: C1   | LAYOUT: C1  C1  

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:  

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
AKS ENGINEERING & FORESTRY, LLC  4300 CHERRY AVE NE  KEIZER, OR 97303  P: 503.400.6028   F: 503.400.7722  aks-eng.com

AutoCAD SHX Text
DMK

AutoCAD SHX Text
JSA

AutoCAD SHX Text
DMK

AutoCAD SHX Text
AS NOTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
5519

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAX LOT 300

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARION COUNTY TAX MAP 09 1W 04D

AutoCAD SHX Text
05/01/2017

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXPIRES: JUNE 30, 2019

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
OREGON

AutoCAD SHX Text
73598PE

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE 1" = 

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
50 FEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED STRIPING FOR MIDDLE SCHOOL IMPROVEMENTS PER APPROVED SHAFF RD PLANS PREPARED BY OTHERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
12' TRAVEL LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
15'

AutoCAD SHX Text
12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5:1 MAX

AutoCAD SHX Text
5:1 MAX

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.5%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIN 2%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
7' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT TO SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAWCUT EXISTING PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
(E) R/W LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDEWALK SECTION PER COS STD DWG 340

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL CURB & GUTTER PER COS STD DWG 336

AutoCAD SHX Text
MULTI-USE PATH

AutoCAD SHX Text
S/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIDENING

AutoCAD SHX Text
12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'±

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5.5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PATH

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIDENING

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
12' TRAVEL LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHOULDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
11' CENTER LANE EAST OF KINDLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
/TURN LANE WEST OF KINDLE



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 1 of 21 

BEFORE THE STAYTON CITY COUNCIL 
 

In the matter of ) Subdivision 
the application of ) Land Use File 
Hayden Homes, LLC, ) #1-02/17 
Applicant ) 

 

ORDER OF CONDITIONAL APPROVAL 

I. NATURE OF THE APPLICATION 

The application is to divide an existing parcel into 51 lots for single family homes, with associated 
streets, water, sewer, and stormwater improvements. 

II. PUBLIC HEARING 

A public hearing was held on the application before the Stayton Planning Commission on February 
27, 2017.  At the hearing, Land Use File #1-02/17, application for subdivision, was made part of the 
record.  

At the conclusion of the hearing, the Planning Commission held the record open for submission of 
written testimony regarding traffic.  Once the record was closed, the Planning Commission met 
again on March 27 and made findings of fact, conclusions of law and approved the application with 
three conditions.  On April 10, the Planning Commission found the application could be made 
consistent with the Land Use and Development Code with certain modifications and conditions, and 
granted approval with a number of conditions. 

The applicant appealed the Planning Commission’s approval and the City Council accepted the 
appeal.  The City Council held a public hearing on the application on June 19, 2017.  The Planning 
Commission’s record and Land Use File #1-02/17 were made part of the City Council’s record, in 
addition to written testimony submitted prior to the City Council’s public hearing and the testimony 
and evidence presented at the public hearing. 

III. FINDINGS OF FACT 

The Stayton City Council, after careful consideration of the testimony and evidence in the record 
adopts the following findings of fact: 

A. EXISTING CONDITIONS 

1. The property is owned by the Lambert Living Trust, Rebecca McClellan and William 
Lambert. 

2. Hayden Homes, LLC, who has a purchase and sale agreement for the property, is the 
applicant. 

3. The property is tax lot 300 Township 9, Range 1 West of the Willamette Meridian, Section 
4D and is Parcel 1 of Partitioning Plat 2016-057, recorded on December 20, 2016. 

4. The parcel is 13.121 acres in area with 586 feet of frontage on Shaff Road.  The parcel is 
developed with a single family dwelling, addressed as 1103 Shaff Road and accompanying 
driveway, well, and septic system.  The property has access to Kindle Way by undeveloped 



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 2 of 21 

portions of extensions to Eagle St and Meadowlark Dr that were dedicated as right of way 
by Partitioning Plat 2016-057, which created the subject parcel. 

5. The property is zoned Medium Density Residential (MD). 

6. The property to the east is zoned Public/Semi-Public (P) and is the campus of the Stayton 
Middle School.   The properties to the south across Shaff Rd are zoned Medium Density 
(MD) and High Density (HD) Residential and are developed with duplexes and a 
multifamily development.  The property to the west and north is Parcel 2 of the partitioning 
that created the subject property and is zoned MD and is vacant.  To the west, across Kindle 
Way, are properties that are zoned Low Density Residential and developed as single family 
detached dwellings. Neighboring single family residential properties range in size from 
8,000 square feet to 27,600 square feet in area.   

7. Shaff Road has a 79-foot right-of-way, with 40 feet of right of way on the north side of the 
centerline.  Shaff Road is partially improved with two travel lanes, no curb and gutter, and 
sidewalks on both sides.  On the north side of the road, adjacent to the frontage of the 
subject property there is a five-foot property-line sidewalk. 

B. PROPOSAL 

The proposal is to divide the existing parcel into 51 lots.  The application includes the 
construction of new streets, including the extension of Eagle St and Meadowlark Dr within 
existing undeveloped right of way.  The application proposes to construct the subdivision in two 
phases. 

C. AGENCY COMMENTS 

The following agencies were notified of the proposal:  City of Stayton Public Works, WAVE 
Broadband, Stayton Telephone Cooperative, Pacific Power & Light, NW Natural Gas, Stayton 
Fire District, Santiam Water Control District, Marion County Public Works, Marion County 
Planning Division, North Santiam School District and the Stayton Police Department. 

Marion Co Building Inspection (within the Public Works Department) responded that it had no 
comments.  The City of Stayton Public Works Department, through the City Engineer, the 
City’s transportation engineering consultant, and Marion County Public Works provided review 
comments that are incorporated into the findings below.  The Santiam Water Control District 
requested clarifying information to be assured that stormwater will not flow over or under 
Kindle Way. 

D. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

The Planning Department received no public comments on the application prior to the Planning 
Commission’s hearing.  At the February 27 public hearing there was testimony from six 
individuals regarding compliance with the conceptual plan submitted with the application for 
annexation, the need for a perimeter fence or wall around the subdivision, traffic impacts.  
Following the close of the February 27 public hearing there was additional written testimony 
from Marion County Public Works, from the City’s transportation engineering consultant, and 
from four members of the public. 

Prior to the City Council’s public hearing the applicant and Marion County Public Works 
submitted written materials for consideration by the City Council.  These materials are further 
described in the findings below. 



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 3 of 21 

E. APPROVAL CRITERIA 

Subdivision applications are required to satisfy approval criteria contained within Stayton 
Municipal Code (SMC) Chapter 17, Section 17.24.040.6 – Preliminary Plan Approval Criteria; 
17.24.050 – Design Standards for Subdivisions and Partitions; 17.26.020 – Access Management 
Requirements and Standards; and 17.26.050 – Transportation Impact Analysis Requirements.   

Section 17.24.040.6 Preliminary Plan Approval Criteria 

Pursuant to SMC 17.24.040.6 the following criteria must be demonstrated as being satisfied by 
the application: 

b. Adequate urban services are available to the property. 

Finding: There is an existing 10-inch water main in Shaff Rd and an existing 8-inch water 
main in Kindle Way.  The application proposes to connect the subdivision to the water main 
in Kindle Way with two connections.  The City Engineer has noted that the City’s Water 
Master Plan shows a future 10-inch water main being extended east from the intersection of 
Kindle Way and Meadowlark Drive towards the Middle School private looped water system.  
In addition, the Water Master Plan shows the existing 10-inch water main in Shaff Road to 
be replaced with a 16-inch water main when the pipeline life expectancy expires.  The City 
Engineer has recommended that a 10-inch water main be required east from the intersection 
of Kindle Way and Meadowlark Drive as indicated in the Master Plan and connected to the 
existing water main in Shaff Road. 

There is an existing 8-inch sewer main in Kindle Way with an existing manhole at the 
corner of Kindle Way and Meadowlark Dr.  There is also an 18-inch sewer main, the Mill 
Creek Sanitary Sewer Intercepter, in the northeast corner of the property.  The application 
proposes to connect the subdivision to the manhole at the corner of Kindle Way and 
Meadowlark Dr.  The City Engineer has noted that this development is part of the Mill 
Creek Sanitary Sewer Interceptor basin, and as such, will need to connect to the Mill Creek 
Sanitary Sewer Interceptor.  The City Engineer further notes that the Sanitary Sewer Master 
Plan shows a 12-inch sanitary sewer main to be extended from the existing Mill Creek 
Sanitary Sewer Interceptor south to Shaff Road.  The City Engineer has recommended that a 
12-inch sanitary sewer system be required from the Mill Creek Sanitary Sewer interceptor 
south to Shaff Road. 

There are currently no stormwater facilities serving the property.  There is a 42-inch storm 
drain on the south side of Shaff Road. The City has purchased Parcel 1 of Partition Plat 
2016-057 for the construction of a stormwater detention basin that, when constructed, will 
receive storm water from the storm drain in Shaff Road.  The application includes a 
stormwater collection system in the proposed streets and a stormwater detention facility to 
be constructed within the first phase.  The detention facility will discharge into the City 
system to be constructed on Parcel 1.  The application included a Preliminary Stormwater 
Report. The City Engineer has noted that the proposed stormwater facility design does not 
conform to the Public Works Design Standards (PWDS).  Revisions to the proposed 
stormwater facility design will be necessary in order to comply with PWDS that will affect 
the overall stormwater facility size, location, and other stormwater facility design parameters 
and may impact the overall lot configuration.  Santiam Water Control District commented 



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 4 of 21 

that the stormwater system needs to be designed to assure that stormwater proceeds north to 
Mill Creek and does not enter the storm system in Quail Run or Phillips Estates. 

c. The proposed parcels, lots, or roads are compatible with the existing pattern of development 
in the area. 

Finding: The application proposes lots ranging in size from 7,224 square feet to 11,808 
square feet, with 38 of the lots larger than 8,000 square feet in area.  Neighboring single 
family residential properties range in size from 8,000 square feet to 27,600 square feet in 
area. 

d. All streets shall be in a location and have a right of way and traveled way width in 
accordance with in the City’s Transportation Plan. 

Finding: The Future Street Plan in the Transportation System Plan shows Kindle Way as a 
future collector street.  The Future Street Plan shows a future local street or future 
neighborhood collector street as the extension of Meadowlark Dr.  The Future Street Plan 
envisioned additional local streets on Parcel 1 that will now be a City-owned stormwater 
facility and not developed with streets.  The City will be constructing the expansion of 
Kindle Way as part of developing the stormwater facility.  The application includes a local 
street as the extension of Meadowlark Dr. 

e. The design standards of Section 17.24.050 below are satisfied as well as the access 
management standards in Section 17.26.020. 

Finding: See the findings below regarding Sections 17.24.050 and 17.26.020. 

f. The plan complies with the provisions of the Comprehensive Plan and the zoning district(s) 
in which it is or will be located. 

Finding: Single family homes are an allowed use in the MD zone. The minimum lot size 
requirement for lots in the MD Zone is 7,000 square feet.  The proposed lots will range in 
size from 7,261 square feet to 11,808 square feet.  The minimum lot width requirement in 
the MD Zone is 70 feet.  The proposed lots range in widths from 70 feet to 125 feet.  

g. All applicable standards of Chapter 17.20 are satisfied. 

Finding: With the exception of Section 17.20.220 regarding Back Lots and Flag Lots, the 
provisions of Chapter 17.20 regulate the development of lots, not their establishment.  There 
are no back lots or flag lots proposed in the subdivision. 

h. All applicable standards of 17.20.180 shall be met and the applicant shall obtain any 
necessary permits from the Department of State Lands for appropriate mitigation. 

Finding: There are no identified wetlands on this property. 

i. The name of any proposed subdivision shall not be the same as or similar to any name used 
on a recorded plat or subdivision in Marion County, except for the use of suffixes such as 
“town,” “place,” “court,” “addition” or similar generic terms, unless the land platted is 
contiguous to and platted by the same party that platted the subdivision bearing that name 
or unless the party files and records the consent of the party that platted the subdivision 
bearing that name. All plats must continue the block numbers of the plat of the same name 
last filed. A name shall not be required for a major partitioning. 



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 5 of 21 

Finding: The subdivision name has been approved by the Marion County Surveyor and 
reserved. 

j. Compliance exists with the provisions of ORS 92.090 as amended. 

Finding: The requirements of state law for a tentative subdivision plat are that (a) the streets 
and roads are laid out so as to conform to the plats of subdivisions and partitions already 
approved for adjoining property as to width, general direction and in all other respects unless 
the city or county determines it is in the public interest to modify the street or road pattern; 
(b) streets and roads held for private use are clearly indicated on the tentative plan and all 
reservations or restrictions relating to such private roads and streets are set forth thereon; 
and (c) The tentative plan complies with the applicable zoning ordinances and regulations 
and the ordinances or regulations adopted under ORS 92.044 that are then in effect for the 
city or county within which the land described in the plan is situated.  The proposed streets 
are in alignment with existing streets.  The proposed parcels meet or exceed the minimum 
lot size of the MD zone. 

k. When any portion of a subdivision or partition is within 100 feet of the North Santiam River 
or Mill Creek or within 25 feet of the Salem Ditch, the proposed project will not have an 
adverse impact on fish habitat. 

Finding: The subject property is not within 100 feet of the North Santiam River or Mill 
Creek or within 25 feet of the Salem Ditch. 

Section 17.24.050.6 Design Standards for Subdivision and Partition Preliminary Plans 

Pursuant to SMC 17.24.050.6, the following criteria must be demonstrated as being satisfied by the 
application: 

1. STREETS. 

a. Streets shall be in alignment with existing streets in the vicinity of the proposed 
subdivision, either by prolongation of existing centerlines or by connection with suitable 
curves. Streets shall conform to the location, alignment, and width as indicated on the 
official map of streets known as the Future Street Plan in the adopted Stayton 
Transportation System Plan. 

Finding:  The application shows a new looped inner street connecting to Kindle Way at two 
locations that align with the existing centerlines of Eagle St and Meadowlark Drive.  
Frontage improvements are proposed along Shaff Rd.  The Future Street Plan in the 
Transportation System Plan shows Kindle Way as a future collector street.  The Future 
Street Plan shows a future local street or future neighborhood collector street as the 
extension of Meadowlark Dr.  The Future Street Plan envisioned additional local streets on 
Parcel 2 that will now be a City-owned stormwater facility and not developed with streets.  
The City will be constructing the expansion of Kindle Way as part of developing the 
stormwater facility. 

b. Streets should intersect at or near right angles as practicable, and in no case shall the 
angle of intersection exceed 120 degrees. 

Finding: The proposed street intersections are right angles. 



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 6 of 21 

c. The criteria of a and b above may be modified where the applicant can demonstrate to 
the decision authority that the topography, or the small number of lots involved, or any 
other unusual conditions justify such modification. 

Finding: No modification has been proposed. 

d. Bikeways and pedestrian ways shall be required in accordance with the City of Stayton 
Non-Motorized Plan in the adopted Stayton Transportation System Plan.  

Finding: The applicant proposes construction of a 12-foot paved multi-use path along the 
north side of the Shaff Road right of way.  This is in conformance with the non-motorized 
plan in the TSP and improvements currently under construction to the east of the subject 
property.  Due to the looped interior configuration of the street network and the needed 
access to Shaff Road for public utilities, the City Engineer has recommended that a 
minimum 8-foot wide concrete pedestrian access walkway within a 20-foot wide dedicated 
tract for access and public utilities be provided along the east property line of Lot 12 to the 
proposed shared path along Shaff Road.  The City Engineer has also recommended that the 
Developer coordinate with the North Santiam School District to determine whether or not a 
direct pedestrian connection to the Middle School is needed.  The School District has 
concurred with a direct pedestrian access and suggested that it enter the property near the 
north end of the parking lot on the west side of the campus. 

e. Concrete curbs and concrete sidewalks shall be installed on all streets.  The location 
and width of sidewalks shall be determined by the decision authority.  In making such 
determination, the decision authority shall take into consideration the topography of the 
land, the presence of improvements, trees or other plantings, the type of street, and the 
location of sidewalks, if any, in adjacent areas or subdivision. 

Finding:  Curb and gutter will be constructed on all subdivision streets.  Property line 
sidewalks have been proposed in conformance with the Public Works Design Standards for 
a local residential street along all interior streets.  The applicant proposes construction of a 
12-foot paved multi-use path along the north side of the Shaff Road right of way.  This is in 
conformance with the improvements currently under construction to the east of the subject 
property and the design for Shaff Road improvements approved by the City and Marion 
County. 

f. In residential neighborhoods, sidewalks shall be placed along the property line 
whenever possible. In all cases, sidewalks shall be placed 1 foot from the property line 
on arterial and collector streets. 

Finding: Property line sidewalks have been proposed in conformance with the Public Works 
Design Standards for a local residential street along all interior streets. The applicant 
proposes construction of a 12-foot paved multi-use path along the north side of the Shaff 
Road right of way. 

2. DEDICATION OF A RIGHT-OF-WAY.  If a parcel of land to be divided includes any 
portion of a right of way or street, the preliminary plan shall show where such right-of-way 
or street will be dedicated for the purpose or use proposed.  

Finding:  The preliminary plan shows dedication of 60-foot wide rights of way for all new 
streets. 



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 7 of 21 

3. DEAD-END STREETS AND CUL-DE-SACS.  When it appears necessary to continue a 
street into a future subdivision or adjacent acreage, streets shall be dedicated or platted to 
the boundary of a division without a turn-around. In all other cases, dead-end streets and 
cul-de-sacs shall have a turn-around with a radius of not less than 45 feet to the property 
line. Unless otherwise approved by the decision authority, the length of the street to the cul-
de-sac bulb shall not exceed 450 feet in length. 

Finding: The adjacent land to the east is the Stayton Middle School campus.  The adjacent 
land to the north is owned by the City for development as a stormwater detention facility.  
Therefore there is no necessity to continue streets into adjacent acreage.  No dead-end streets 
or cul-de-sacs are proposed.  

4. RESERVE BLOCK. 

a. Reserve blocks controlling the access to public ways or which will not prove taxable for 
special improvements may be required by the decision authority, but will not be 
approved unless such strips are necessary for the protection of the public welfare or of 
substantial property rights, or both, and in no case unless the land comprising such 
strips is placed in the name of the City for disposal and dedication for street or road 
purposes whenever such disposal or dedication has the approval of the decision 
authority. 

b. In no case shall a reserve block be platted along a street that is dedicated to the required 
full width. 

Finding: No reserve blocks are proposed. 

5. STREET WIDTHS. 

a. The location, width, and grade of all streets must conform to any approved 
transportation master plan or recorded subdivision plat. Where the location of a street is 
not shown in an approved street plan, the arrangement of streets in a development shall 
either provide for the continuation or appropriate projection of existing principal streets 
in the surrounding areas or conform to a plan for the neighborhood approved or 
adopted by the City to meet a particular situation where topographical or other 
conditions made continuance or conformance to existing streets impractical or where no 
plan has been previously adopted. 

Finding: The application shows a new looped inner street connecting to Kindle Way at two 
locations that align with the existing centerlines of Eagle St and Meadowlark Drive.  
Frontage improvements are proposed along Shaff Rd.  The Future Street Plan in the 
Transportation System Plan shows Kindle Way as a future collector street.  The Future 
Street Plan shows a future local street or future neighborhood collector street as the 
extension of Meadowlark Dr.  The Future Street Plan envisioned additional local streets on 
Parcel 1 that will now be a City-owned stormwater facility and not developed with streets.  
The City will be constructing the expansion of Kindle Way as part of developing the 
stormwater facility. 

b. In addition, new streets may be required to be located where the City Engineer 
determines that additional access is needed to relieve or avoid access deficiencies on 
adjacent or nearby properties. In determining the location of new streets in a 



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 8 of 21 

development or street plan, consideration shall be given to maximizing available solar 
access for adjoining development sites. 

Finding: The City Engineer has not recommended any additional access. 

c. When an area within a subdivision is set aside for commercial uses or where probable 
future conditions warrant, the decision authority may require dedication of streets to a 
greater width than herein otherwise provided. 

Finding: No commercial uses are envisioned. 

d. The street right-of-way in or along the boundary of a subdivision shall have the 
minimum width as specified in Standard Specifications for Public Works Construction, 
Section 300 - Street Design Standards, 2.07, except a boundary street may be half such 
width where it is apparent that the other half will be dedicated from adjacent properties. 

Finding: The proposed streets have been designed in accordance with the Public Works 
Design Standards.  No boundary streets are proposed. 

e. Temporary dead-end streets. Dead-end streets that may in the future be extended shall 
have a right-of-way and pavement width that will conform to the development pattern 
when extended. 

Finding: No dead-end streets are proposed. 

f. Additional Right-of-Way Widths. 

1) Where topographical requirements necessitate either cuts or fill for the proper 
grading of streets, additional right-of-way width may be required to allow all cut 
and fill slopes to be within the right-of-way. 

2) Where bikeways necessitate, additional right-of-way width may be required. 

Finding: Shaff Road has an existing 40-foot half right of way. 

6. SUBDIVISION BLOCKS. 

a. Block lengths and widths shall be determined by giving consideration to the following 
factors: 

1) The distance and alignment of existing blocks and streets. 

2) Topography. 

3) Lot size. 

4) Need for and direction of the flow of through and local traffic. 

b. Block length and perimeter standards are specified in Section 17.26.1020.5.c.   

c. Except where topographical or other physical features require otherwise, block widths 
shall not be less than 180 feet. 

Finding: The application proposes the creation of one block in the center of the 
subdivision, with lots around the perimeter of the subdivision.  The center block will be 
640 feet long and 230 feet wide.  See findings relative Section 17.26.020.5.c below. 



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 9 of 21 

7. MID-BLOCK WALKS.  Where topographical or other conditions make necessary blocks of 
unusual length, the decision authority may require the developer to install mid-block 
pedestrian walks on a right-of-way at least 6 feet in width, which shall be hard surfaced 
throughout the block, and curb to curb, in order to provide easy access to schools, parks, 
shopping centers, mass transportation stops, or other community services. 

Finding: Due to the looped interior configuration of the street network and the needed 
access to Shaff Road for public utilities, the City Engineer has recommended that a 
minimum 8-foot wide concrete pedestrian access walkway within a 20-foot wide 
dedicated right of way for access and public utilities be provided along the east property 
line of Lot 12 to the proposed 12-foot wide shared path along Shaff Road.  The City 
Engineer also recommended that the Developer coordinate with the School District to 
determine whether or not a direct pedestrian or fire access connection to the Middle 
School is needed.  The School District has concurred with a direct pedestrian access and 
suggested that it enter the property near the north end of the parking lot on the west side 
of the campus. 

8. LOT SIZE, LOT LINES. 

a. Lot sizes shall be as specified in the zoning district in which the land division is being 
proposed. 

b. If topography, drainage, location, or other conditions justify, the decision authority may 
require greater area and frontage widths on any or all lots within a subdivision, or it 
may allow smaller area or front line widths if the surrounding area and other conditions 
justify such requirements. 

c. In a cul-de-sac, the minimum lot line fronting the turn-around shall be 40 feet, and in no 
case shall the lot width be less than 60 feet at the building line. 

d. Side lot lines shall be as close to right angles to the front street as practicable. 

e. Unless otherwise approved, rear lot lines shall be not less than ½ the width of the front 
lot lines. 

f. The subdividing or partitioning of developed property shall not create lots or parcels 
that are in violation of the dwelling density limitations of the underlying zone. 

Finding: The minimum lot size in the MD zone is 7,000 square feet, with a minimum 70-
foot lot width. The proposed lots will range in size from 7,261 square feet to 11,808 
square feet.  The proposed lots range in widths from 70 feet to 125 feet.   No lots have 
frontage on a cul-de-sac.  Side lot lines are at right angles or are radial to the street 
intersections.  Rear lot lines are the same length or wider than the front lot lines.  The 
maximum density permitted in the MD Zone is 12 units per acre.  The proposed 
subdivision has 3.9 units per acre. 

9. PUBLIC SURVEY MONUMENTS.  Any donation land claim, corner, section corner, or 
other official survey monument within or on the boundary of a proposed subdivision shall be 
accurately referenced to at least two monuments. 

Finding: There are no public survey monuments within or on the boundary of the 
proposed subdivision. 



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 10 of 21 

10. SEWAGE DISPOSAL. 

a. All extensions of the existing City sewage facilities shall be in accordance with the 
adopted Wastewater Master Plan. Sewer mains shall be extended to the edge of the 
subdivision unless otherwise approved by the Public Works Director. 

b. If adequate public sewage facilities are not available to the parcel of land proposed for 
subdivision, or if extension of the existing City sewage facilities to serve the buildings to 
be constructed in the proposed subdivision does not appear practical and economically 
feasible because of topographic or other considerations, and if all lots in a subdivision 
are of proper size and soil conditions are suitable, as determined by percolator or other 
tests made by or approved by the health officer having jurisdiction, the City may allow 
individual sewage disposal facilities approved by the health officer to be installed on 
each lot when and as buildings are erected thereon. 

Finding:  There is an existing 8-inch sewer main in Kindle Way with an existing 
manhole at the corner of Kindle Way and Meadowlark Dr.  There is also an 18-inch 
sewer main, Mill Creek Sanitary Sewer Interceptor, in the northeast corner of the 
property.  The application proposes to connect the subdivision to the manhole at the 
corner of Kindle Way and Meadowlark Dr.  The City Engineer has noted that this 
development is part of the Mill Creek Sanitary Sewer Interceptor basin, and as such, will 
need to connect to the Mill Creek Sanitary Sewer Interceptor.  The City Engineer further 
notes that the Sanitary Sewer Master Plan shows a 12-inch sanitary sewer main to be 
extended from the existing Mill Creek Sanitary Sewer Interceptor south to Shaff Road.  
The City Engineer has recommended that a 12-inch sanitary sewer system be required 
from the Mill Creek Sanitary Sewer Interceptor south to Shaff Road. 

11. PUBLIC USE AREAS. 

a. Subdivision and partition preliminary plans shall provide a minimum of 5% of the gross 
area of the subdivision or partition as public recreation area. 

b. Such public recreational area shall have access to a public street, and the decision 
authority may specify the location of such area to be compatible with existing or 
anticipated recreational development. 

c. As an alternative to subsection a. of  this section, in cases where such recreational area 
would not be effectively used because of size or the location of the subdivision or 
partition, or where agreed upon by the decision authority, the developer shall pay to the 
City a fee, earmarked for recreational use and development. 

Finding: Each house in the subdivision will pay a Parks System Development Charge to 
be used for development of parks in the City. 

12. WATER SUPPLY. 

a. All lots shall be served from the established public water system of the City or, if 
permitted by the decision authority, from community or public wells, of which the water 
quality and system maintenance shall be in accordance with the requirements of the 
Oregon Board of Health or the county health officer. 

b. In the event that larger lines are deemed necessary by the City for service to adjoining 
areas than what would normally be required to serve the area to be subdivided, the City 



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 11 of 21 

will pay the additional costs of such larger lines based on the current rate schedule 
adopted by the City. 

Finding: The subdivision will be served by the City water system.  There is an 8-inch 
water main in Kindle Way.  The City Engineer has noted that the City’s Water Master 
Plan shows a future 10-inch water main being extended east from the intersection of 
Kindle Way and Meadowlark Drive towards the Middle School private looped water 
system.  In addition, the Water Master Plan shows the existing 10-inch water main in 
Shaff Road to be replaced with a 16-inch water main when the pipeline life expectancy 
expires.  The City Engineer has recommended that a 10-inch water main be required east 
from the intersection of Kindle Way and Meadowlark Drive as indicated in the Master 
Plan and connected to the existing water main in Shaff Road. 

13. UNDERGROUND UTILITIES. 

a. All permanent utility service to lots in a subdivision shall be provided from underground 
facilities and no overhead utility service to a subdivision shall be permitted with the 
exception of poles used exclusively for street lighting and other equipment appurtenant 
to underground facilities that the utility companies have indicated in writing that there 
would be impractical difficulty to install underground. 

b. The subdivider shall provide underground electricity and telephone service and wiring 
for future street lighting. The subdivider shall also provide such present street lighting, 
gas lines, and cable television or other data transmission lines as are available within 
500 feet of the proposed subdivision. 

Finding:  All utilities will be provided underground. 

Section 17.26.020 Access Management Requirements and Standards 

Pursuant to SMC 17.26.020 the following criteria must be demonstrated as being satisfied by 
the application: 

17.26.020.3.f.  Residential Subdivision Access Requirements. 

Residential subdivisions fronting an arterial, minor arterial, or collector street shall be 
required to provide access from secondary local streets for access to individual lots.  When 
secondary local streets cannot be constructed due to topographic or physical constraints, 
access shall be provided by consolidating driveways per the requirements set for in 
17.26.020.3.d.  In this situation, the residential subdivision shall still meet driveway spacing 
requirements of the arterial or collector street.  

Finding: Shaff Road is a minor arterial.  Kindle Way is a collector street.  No driveway 
access will be provided from lots directly to Shaff Road or Kindle Way. 

17.26.020.4.c.  Sight Distance Triangle.  Traffic entering an uncontrolled public road from a 
stop sign controlled public road, or from private roads or private driveways, shall have 
minimum sight distances, as shown in Table 17.26.020.4.c, except as allowed in 
17.26.020.4.d.  Table 17.26.020.4.c requires a minimum sight distance of 250 feet for a 25 
mph design speed. 



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 12 of 21 

Finding:  The Transportation Impact Analysis notes that sight distance for the intersection of 
Meadowlark and Kindle was measured at 580 feet to the north and 591 feet to the south and 
for the intersection of Eagle and Kindle to be 715 feet to the north and 383 feet to the south.   

17.26.020.5.a.  Connectivity 

1) The street system of proposed subdivisions shall be designed to connect with existing, 
proposed, and planned streets outside of the subdivision as specified in 17.24.050.1.a. 

2) Wherever a proposed development abuts unplatted, developable land a future 
development phase of the same development, street stubs shall be provided to provide 
access to abutting properties or to logically extend the street system into the surrounding 
area.  This is consistent with and an extension of 17.24.050.1.a. 

3) Neighborhood collectors and local residential access streets shall connect with 
surrounding streets to permit the convenient movement of traffic between residential 
neighborhoods or facilitate emergency access and evacuation. Connections shall be 
designed to avoid or minimize through traffic on local streets. Appropriate design and 
traffic calming measures are the preferred means of discouraging through traffic.  These 
measures are defined in the Stayton Transportation System Plan. 

4) Developers shall construct roadways within their development site to conform to the 
Future Street Plan in the transportation system plan.  Flexibility of the future roadway 
alignment shall be at the discretion of the Public Works Director and/or his designee but 
must maintain the intent of the Future Street Plan. 

Finding: The proposed subdivision connects with the existing street system with extensions 
of Meadowlark Dr and Eagle St.  The land abutting the proposed subdivision is owned by 
the City and is intended for the development of a stormwater detention basin.  The street 
layout will likely direct traffic south on Kindle Way to Shaff Rd, not through neighboring 
residential neighborhoods.  The Future Street Plan envisioned the extension of Meadowlark 
Dr connecting to a north/south street.  With the purchase of the adjacent land to the north by 
the City the proposed layout is as conforming to the Future Street Plan as is reasonable. 

17.26.020.5.c.  Street Connectivity and Formation of Blocks (Block Length and Perimeter 
Standard) 

In order to promote efficient vehicular and pedestrian circulation throughout the city, 
subdivisions and site development shall be served by a connecting network of public streets 
and/or accessways, in accordance with the following standards (minimum and maximum 
distances between two streets or a street and its nearest accessway measured from right-of-
way line to right-of-way line as shown in Figure 17.26.020.5.c. 

1) Residential Districts. 

Minimum 100-foot block length and maximum of 600-foot length; maximum 1,400 feet 
block perimeter; 

If a hardship can be demonstrated in which it is not practically feasible to meet these 
standards due to topographical, environmental, or other significant constraints, then these 
conditions may be requested to be modified through the Public Works Director or his/her 
designee.  At no time shall any block length be greater than 600 feet and its maximum block 



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 13 of 21 

perimeter 1,800 feet for roadways with urbanized area principal arterials, minor arterials, 
or lower classification. 

Alleys as defined in the City’s Street Design Standards may be used within residential 
subdivisions but cannot be used in the maximum block perimeter calculation.  The maximum 
alley length is 600 feet between ties to public streets.  Midblock access(s) to alleys must 
align with existing or planned public streets. 

Finding: The proposed plan creates an interior block surrounded by the new streets to be 
constructed.  The block length as proposed is 640 feet.  The block perimeter as proposed is 
1,740 feet. 

Section 17.26.050 Transportation Impact Analysis Requirements 

Pursuant to SMC 17.26.050 the following criteria must be demonstrated as being satisfied by 
the application: 

10. Intersection Operation Standards.  The City of Stayton evaluates intersection operational 
performance based on levels of service and “volume-to-capacity” (v/c) ratio.  When 
evaluating the volume-to-capacity ratio, the total traffic demand shall be considered. 

a. Intersection Volume-to-Capacity Analysis.  A capacity analysis should be performed at 
all intersections within the identified study area. The methods identified in the latest 
edition of the Highway Capacity Manual, published by the Transportation Research 
Board, are to be used for all intersection capacity calculations. The City of Stayton 
requires that all intersections within the study area must maintain a v/c ratio of 0.95 or 
less. It should be noted that the mobility standards in the Oregon Highway Plan apply to 
Oregon Department of Transportation facilities. 

b. Intersection Levels of Service.  The City of Stayton requires all intersections within the 
study area to maintain an acceptable level of service (LOS) upon full buildout of the 
proposed land use action. LOS calculations for signalized intersections are based on the 
average control delay per vehicle, while LOS calculations for unsignalized intersections 
are based on the average control delay and volume-to-capacity ratio for the worst or 
critical movement. All LOS calculations should be made using the methods identified in 
the most recent version of the Highway Capacity Manual (or by field studies), published 
by the Transportation Research Board. The minimum acceptable level of service for 
signalized intersections is LOS “D”. The minimum acceptable level of service for all-
way stop controlled intersections and roundabouts is LOS “D”.   The minimum 
acceptable level of service for unsignalized two-way stop controlled intersections is LOS 
“E” or LOS “F” with a v/c ratio of 0.95 or less for the critical movement. Any 
intersections not operating at these standards will be considered to be unacceptable. 

Finding: The Transportation Impact Analysis (TIA) submitted by the applicant looked at the 
Shaff Rd/Golf Club Rd/Wilco Rd intersection, the Shaff Rd/Kindle Way intersection, and 
the Shaff Rd/Gardner Rd/Stayton Middle School driveway intersection.  The Shaff Rd/Golf 
Club Rd/Wilco Rd intersection is an all-way stop controlled intersection.  The Shaff 
Rd/Kindle Way intersection and the Shaff Rd/Gardner Rd/Stayton Middle School driveway 
intersection are two-way stop controlled intersections.  The TIA concluded that the Shaff 
Rd/Golf Club Rd/Wilco Rd intersection and the Shaff Rd/Kindle Way intersection will 
operate at a Level of Service (LOS) C following build-out of the project and that the Shaff 



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 14 of 21 

Rd/Gardner Rd/Stayton Middle School driveway intersection will operate at a LOS of E 
during the AM peak hour and LOS D during the mid-day and PM peak hours.   The volume 
to capacity ratio will not exceed 0.61 at any of the studied intersections.  The City’s 
transportation engineering consultant concurred with the conclusions in the TIA. 

Shaff Road is a Marion County maintained road and Marion County has permitting authority 
over any activity within or adjacent to the road right of way.  Marion County has 
performance standards that apply at intersections with one or more county road approaches.  
Marion County uses the Texas Transportation Institute methodology, provided by the 
Oregon Department of Transportation, to determine if left-turn warrants are met.  Marion 
County Public Works stated that this methodology suggests that the criteria for an eastbound 
left turn lane on Shaff Road at Kindle Way is met based on the build-out volumes during the 
afternoon and PM peak hours and requested a condition of approval that the applicant 
constructed an eastbound left turn lane at Kindle Way, with associated widening and tapers. 

11. Review Policy and Procedure.  The following criteria should be used in reviewing a 
transportation impact analysis as part of a subdivision or site plan review. 

a. The road system is designed to meet the projected traffic demand at full build-out. 

b. Proposed driveways do not adversely affect the functional character of the surrounding 
roadways. 

c. Adequate intersection and stopping sight distance is available at all driveways. 

d. Proposed driveways meet the City’s access spacing standard or sufficient justification is 
provided to allow a deviation from the spacing standard. 

e. Opportunities for providing joint or crossover access have been pursued. 

f. The site does not rely upon the surrounding roadway network for internal circulation. 

g. The road system provides adequate access to buildings for residents, visitors, deliveries, 
emergency vehicles, and garbage collection. 

h. A pedestrian path system is provided that links buildings with parking areas, entrances 
to the development, open space, recreational facilities, and other community facilities 
per the Transportation Planning Rule. 

Finding: The applicant submitted a Transportation Impact Analysis (TIA) prepared by 
Lancaster Engineering.  The analysis indicated that the proposed subdivision would generate 
38 trips during the morning peak hour, 52 trips during the afternoon peak hour that coincides 
with school release and 51 trips during the evening peak hour.  The TIA stated the 
intersections studied by the TIA are projected to operate within the performance standards 
established by the City and Marion County through the build-out period.  Traffic signal 
warrants were examined at the Shaff/Golf Club/Wilco intersection and were met under 
existing PM conditions.  The analysis concluded that the intersection operates acceptably 
with its current four-way stop and a traffic signal is not necessary or recommended.  A 
review of crash data and queuing resulted in no safety mitigations being recommended.  The 
TIA was reviewed by Kittelson & Associates, the City’s transportation engineering 
consultant, who asked for the following clarifications or changes in the report: 



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 15 of 21 

 Identification of which warrants were analyzed and which warrants are met for the 
signalization of the Shaff/Wilco/Golf Club intersection. 

 Turning movements should be estimated at the Eagle/Kindle and 
Meadowlark/Kindle intersections using the ITE trip generation for the number of 
houses served by these intersections. 

 Trips from development approved but not yet constructed were not accounted for.   
 The PM peak period trip distribution should be updated to not include distribution to 

the school. 
 The queuing analysis should include eastbound side street traffic at the Eagle/Kindle 

and Meadowlark/Kindle intersections 
 The TIA noted that the 260-foot spacing standards for intersections is not met 

between Kindle Way and lots 1, 2, and 3 of the proposed subdivision.  Whereas 
Kindle Way is designated as a future collector with connections to the north, the 
planning year analysis needs to determine if the queueing storage is adequate for 
future conditions. 

Marion County Public Works’ (MCPW) review of the TIA commented that the trip 
generation was not accurate, but did not request revisions.  They also commented that the 
turning traffic volumes at the Kindle/Eagle and Kindle/Meadowlark intersections were not 
accurate.  MCPW commented that the County’s performance standards for intersections 
with a county road approach were not acknowledged by the TIA.  MCPW requested a 
condition of approval that the applicant construct an exclusive east bound left-turn lane on 
Shaff Road at Kindle Way, with associated widening and tapers.  This condition of approval 
is based on Marion County standards.  Kittelson has indicated that the Shaff/Kindle 
intersection will operate within City standards without the left-turn lane. 

The applicant submitted an addendum to the TIA.  The TIA addendum responded to the 
review comments from Kittelson and from MCPW.  In response to comments, the trip 
distribution was revised for the evening peak hour; turning movement volumes to and from 
Meadowlark and Eagle were estimated; response was given regarding left-turning 
movements from the Middle School; trips from the recently approved but not yet operational 
developments in the area were accounted for; the queuing analysis was revised to account 
for eastbound traffic at the Eagle/Kindle and Meadowlark/Kindle intersections; the warrants 
analyzed to determine the need for signalization of the Shaff/Golf Club/Wilco intersection 
were identified; and the comment about the TSP was responded to. 

In addition, the addendum responded to the use of the Texas Transportation Institute 
(TTI)/ODOT methodology for left-turn lane warrants.  The addendum stated that this 
methodology is more appropriate to higher-speed arterial roadways, and pointed out that 
Shaff Rd is a lower-speed collector road, adjacent to a school and a residential area.  The 
addendum noted that an east bound left turn lane would allow higher travel speeds, longer 
pedestrian crossings, discourage biking and walking, and would not be consistent with the 
character of the neighborhood. 

The TIA addendum reported that the findings and conclusions in the original report remain 
valid and applicable to the proposal.   

Kittelson advised that the City’s standards for traffic impacts are met.  MCPW provided 
additional comments to the addendum justifying use of the TTI/ODOT methodology,  



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 16 of 21 

pointing out that the TTI/ODOT methodology does take into account slower-speed 
roadways.  Further, MCPW responded to the addendum that Shaff Road is classified as an 
arterial street and impeding traffic speeds is not desirable, there is no crosswalk at the 
Shaff/Kindle intersection so pedestrian crossing should not influence engineering decisions, 
the applicant will be constructing a center left turn lane to the east of the Shaff/Kindle 
intersection.  MCPW concluded that while a left-turn lane at Shaff/Kindle will not 
substantially improve capacity at the intersection, which is projected to operate at very 
acceptable levels of service upon project build-out, it will provide an incremental safety 
benefit for motorists on Shaff Rd and is consistent with the City’s and County’s ultimate 
design for the roadway.  

In addition, the Planning Commission received four emails from residents of the 
neighborhood with general concerns about traffic impacts from the proposed development.  
None of the emails raised the issue with enough specificity to warrant specific note in these 
findings. 

12. Conditions of Approval.  As part of every land use action, the City of Stayton, Marion 
County (if access to a County roadway is proposed), and ODOT (if access to a state 
roadway is proposed) will be required to identify conditions of approval needed to meet 
operations and safety standards and provide the necessary right-of-way and improvements 
to develop the future planned transportation system.  Conditions of Approval that should be 
evaluated as part of subdivision and site plan reviews include: 

a. Crossover easement agreements for all adjoining parcels to facilitate future access 
between parcels. 

b. Conditional access permits for new developments which have proposed access points 
that do not meet the designated access spacing policy and/or have the ability to align 
with opposing access driveways. 

c. Right-of-way dedications for future planned roadway improvements. 

d. Half-street improvements along site frontages that do not have full-buildout 
improvements in place at the time of development. 

Finding: Shaff Road is a Marion County-maintained street and Marion County has 
permitting authority over activities impacting Shaff Road.  MCPW has identified conditions 
of approval in order to meet the County’s and City’s operational and safety standards. 

Shaff Road does not have full-buildout improvements along the frontage of the subject 
property.  Shaff Road is classified as a Minor Arterial street by the City’s Transportation 
System Plan.  The application included plans for improvement to Shaff Road that would 
have provided a 20-foot half-street section, a 7-foot landscaped area and a 12-foot shared 
path, to be located within the existing 40-foot half right of way. 

The Stayton Public Works Design Standards (PWDS) call for full-buildout improvements to 
Shaff Road of a 50-foot improvement width with two 12-foot travel lanes and a 14-foot 
center left turn lane; two 6-foot bicycle lanes and no on-street parking.  The PWDS also call 
for an 8-foot property line sidewalk and a 6-foot landscape area between curb and sidewalk.   

Construction of the above specifications from the PWDS would require relocation of the 
franchise utility transmission poles in order to accommodate the 25-foot half-street 



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 17 of 21 

improvement.  Whereas the transmission poles are estimated to cost $75,000 each to move, 
the City developed an alternative improvement section for the portion of Shaff Road 
between Kindle Way and Cascade Highway, that was acceptable to Marion County.  This 
alternative improvement section has been constructed to the east of the Stayton Middle 
School and improvements designed in accordance with the alternative improvement section 
have been approved by MCPW and the City for the frontage of the Stayton Middle School 
and are anticipated to be constructed during the summer of 2017. 

The alternative improvement section developed by the City of Stayton for this section of 
Shaff Road calls for only a 42-foot improvement width without a bicycle lane on the north 
side.  The sidewalk is expanded from 8 feet in width to a 12-foot multi-use path to 
accommodate bicycle and pedestrian traffic.  This allows the power transmission poles to 
remain in place and avoids close to a $1 million in relocation costs over the length of Shaff 
Road.  There are three transmission poles on the subject property, saving over $200,000 in 
relocation costs to the applicant and will reduce costs of street widening. 

The applicant and MCPW have come to an agreement on proposed improvements to Shaff 
Rd as memorialized in a June 8 email from MCPW to City staff.  The agreement calls for 
two 12-foot travel lanes with an 11-foot center refuge/turn lane.  The applicant will be 
responsible for construction of curb and gutter on the north side Shaff Rd, a 7-foot landscape 
strip and 12-foot multi-use path.  The applicant will be responsible for improvements on the 
south side of the street necessary to generally provide a 35.5-foot pavement width and a 4.5-
foot gravel shoulder, without curb and gutter.  The existing 8-foot path on the south side will 
serve as a mixed use path. 

MCPW has noted that the methodology utilized by Marion County for determining left turn 
needs and properly considers roadways with varying speeds.  The County had indicated that 
a left-turn pocket for east-bound traffic Shaff Road at Kindle Way is warranted.  Further, the 
left-turn lane is consistent with the frontage improvements required along the frontage of the 
subdivision, to be constructed along the frontage of the adjacent Stayton Middle School, and 
recently constructed to the east of the Middle School.  MCPW has stated that a left turn lane 
will provide an incremental safety benefit for motorists on Shaff Rd. 

As a Marion County maintained road, construction of improvements within the right of way 
of Shaff Road is subject to the permitting authority of the County.  It is the City policy to 
defer to Marion County for construction to be performed on a road under their sole 
jurisdiction.  While the City controls the land use planning and permitting of development 
activity, construction within a county road is subject to review and approval from Marion 
County. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

Based on the findings of fact above, the City Council concludes that the approval criteria in 
Sections 17.24.040.6, 17.24.050.6, 17.26.020, and 17.26.050 are met except for the following: 

Section 17.24.040.6.b.  This standard requires that adequate urban service be available to the 
property.  The proposal is not in conformance with the City’s Water Master Plan or Wastewater 
Master Plan.  In addition the stormwater management plan provided does not meet the Public 
Works Design Standards.  This standard could be met if the applicant submits a revised water plan 
showing a 10-inch water main east from the intersection of Kindle Way and Meadowlark Drive as 



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 18 of 21 

indicated in the Water Master Plan and connected to the existing water main in Shaff Road, if the 
applicant submits a revised sewer plan connecting the subdivision to the Mill Creek Sanitary Sewer 
Interceptor and including a 12-inch sanitary sewer main from the Mill Creek Sanitary Sewer 
interceptor south to Shaff Road, and if the applicant submits a revised stormwater management plan 
that conforms to Public Works Design Standards. 

Section 17.24.050.1.d.  This standard requires pedestrian ways in accordance with the 
Transportation System Plan.  This standard could be met if a minimum 8-foot wide concrete 
pedestrian access walkway is constructed within a 20-foot wide dedicated tract along the east 
property line of Lot 12 to the proposed shared path along Shaff Road and if a similar path be 
constructed within a 20-foot wide dedicated tract to provide a direct pedestrian connection to the 
Middle School. 

17.24.050.7.  This standard requires mid-block pedestrian walks in order to provide easy access to 
schools, parks, shopping centers, mass transportation stops, or other community services.  The 
planning Commission has determined that mid-block walks are appropriate to provide connections 
with the Stayton Middle School and with Shaff Road.  This standard could be met if a minimum 8-
foot wide concrete pedestrian access walkway is constructed within a 20-foot wide dedicated tract 
along the east property line of Lot 12 to the proposed shared path along Shaff Road and if a similar 
path be constructed within a 20-foot wide dedicated tract to provide a direct pedestrian connection 
to the Middle School. 

17.24.050.10.a.  This standard requires all extensions of sewage facilities to be in accordance with 
the Wastewater Master Plan.  The Wastewater Master Plan calls for this area to be served by the 
Mill Creek Sanitary Sewer Interceptor. The Wastewater Master Plan shows a 12-inch sanitary sewer 
main being extended from the existing Mill Creek Sanitary Sewer Interceptor through the subject 
property south to Shaff Road.  This standard could be met if revised sanitary sewer plans are 
submitted that show the subdivision connecting to the Mill Creek Sanitary Sewer Interceptor in the 
northeast corner of the development and include a 12-inch main from the Mill Creek Sanitary Sewer 
Interceptor south to Shaff Road. 

Section 17.26.020.5.c.  This standard establishes a maximum block length of 600 feet in residential 
district.  The proposed block length for the interior block is 640 feet.  This standard could be met if 
the plans are revised such that the distance between Street B and Street C is no more than 600 feet.  
Alternately, this standard could be met by provision of a mid-block walkway. 

Section 17.26.050.12.  This standard requires the City and the County to identify conditions of 
approval needed to meet operations and safety standards and to provide the necessary right-of-way 
and improvements to develop the future planned transportation system.  The street improvements 
proposed with the application do not meet the PWDS for Shaff Road full-buildout and do not meet 
the alternative improvement section developed by the City to avoid the costs of relocation of the 
power transmission poles.  The applicant and the Marion County have developed an agreement as to 
the improvements required along the frontage of the property, as memorialized in a June 8 email 
from Marion County to City staff.  Marion County, which has exclusive jurisdiction over 
improvements in Shaff Road has requested a condition of approval to require an eastbound left-turn 
lane at the Kindle Way intersection in order to meet the County’s operational and safety standards.  
This standard could be met if conditions of approval are imposed that require a half-street 
improvement along the site frontage in compliance with the June 8 email from Marion County 



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 19 of 21 

Public Works to City staff and require construction of an eastbound left-turn lane at the 
Shaff/Kindle intersection.   

V. ORDER AND CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

The City Council approves the application as shown on a 10-sheet set of plans entitled “Lambert 
Place Preliminary Phased Subdivision Plan” prepared by AKS Engineering and dated January 30, 
2017 and the accompanying materials on file in the Planning and Development Department subject 
to the Standard Conditions of Approval, attached, and with the following specific conditions of 
approval. 

1. The following engineered plans and supporting documentation shall be submitted to the City 
and Marion County Public Works (as applicable) for review and approval prior to issuance 
of a Site Development Permit.  The construction plans for each phase shall be capable of 
standing alone and City approval of one phase shall be independent of the approval for all 
other phases. As such, lots 16 and 30 will likely need to be within Phase 2.  Approval of the 
construction plans by the City and the time by which construction must begin shall apply to 
each phase independently. 

a. Street improvement plans conforming to Public Works Standards.  A minimum 8-foot 
wide concrete pedestrian access walkway within a 20-foot wide dedicated tract shall be 
provided along the east property line of Lot 12 to the proposed 12-foot wide shared path 
along Shaff Road.  The Developer shall coordinate with the North Santiam School 
District to locate a direct pedestrian connection to the Stayton Middle School.  Prior to 
issuance of a Site Development Permit, the Developer shall provide written 
documentation that Marion County Public Works has reviewed and approved the Shaff 
Road street improvement plans.  The Developer shall design, permit and construct up to 
a half-street urban frontage improvement adjacent to the Shaff Road property frontage in 
accordance with the standards included in the June 8, 2017 email from Marion County 
Public Works to City staff and shall include an exclusive eastbound left-turn lane on 
Shaff Rd at Kindle Way, with associated widening and tapers.  Shaff Road engineering 
improvement plans shall include the following, aside from other ordinary components: 

 Shaff Road Base Survey (void of improvement linework and annotation) 
 Shaff Road Demolition Plan (void of improvement linework and annotation) 
 Shaff Road Street Plan & Profile 
 Spot-shot grading detail of Shaff Road/Kindle Way public street connection 
 Shaff Road/Kindle Way Curb Return Profiles 
 Utility Installation/Relocation Plan 
 Shaff Road Resurfacing, Signing & Striping Plan 
 Traffic Control Plan(s) for all phases of work in Shaff Road, including utility work  

Up to a half-street improvement of some type (mill/overlay) may be required in order to 
stabilize degrading pavement and/or achieve cross- and longitudinal-slope tolerances. 
Developer shall be responsible to preserve and protect the current PCI rating and the 
structural integrity of Shaff Road to the satisfaction of Marion County Public Works 
throughout all phases of development.  Failure to preserve and protect the road may 
result in Developer being responsible for replacing or reconstructing the damaged road 
at their expense.  



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 20 of 21 

b. Water system plans conforming to Public Works Standards and meeting the 
requirements of the Fire Code Official and Building Official.  Unless otherwise directed 
by the Public Works Director, a 10-inch CLDI public water main shall be required east 
from the intersection of Kindle Way and Meadowlark Drive and connected to the 
existing 10-inch AC water main in Shaff Road (through the required pedestrian access 
tract along the east property line of Lot 12).  A utility easement in accordance with 
PWDS 102.08 shall be provided if a water main and/or fire hydrant is extended outside 
the public right-of-way or dedicated tract.  Prior to Site Development Permit issuance, 
the Developer shall provide documentation that the Fire Code Official has reviewed and 
approved all required fire access, protection devices, and system modifications, unless 
otherwise deferred by the Fire Code Official. 

c. Sanitary sewer system plans conforming to DEQ, Public Works Standards, and meeting 
the requirements of the Building Official. This development is part of the Mill Creek 
Sanitary Sewer Interceptor basin, and as such, will need to connect to the Mill Creek 
Sanitary Sewer Interceptor located at the northeast corner of the development. Unless 
otherwise directed by the Public Works Director, a 12-inch sanitary sewer system is 
required from the Mill Creek Sanitary Sewer interceptor south to Shaff Road (through 
the recommended pedestrian access tract to the Middle School and along the east 
property line of Lot 12). A utility easement in accordance with PWDS 102.08 shall be 
provided if a sanitary sewer main is extended outside the public right-of-way or a 
dedicated tract.  Prior to Site Development Permit issuance, the Developer shall provide 
written documentation that DEQ has reviewed and approved the sanitary sewer system 
plans. 

d. A stormwater analysis and report conforming to Public Works Standards.  Developer 
shall submit stormwater calculations to MCPW Engineering for co-review, and obtain 
permits from MCPW Engineering for any drainage work affecting Shaff Road.  Careful 
review and consideration of the area’s seasonal high groundwater impacts will need to 
be included in the analysis.  Revisions to the proposed stormwater facility design will be 
necessary in order to comply with PWDS that will affect the overall stormwater facility 
size, location, and other stormwater facility design parameters.  This will impact the 
overall lot configuration. 

e. Stormwater conveyance, quality, and quantity facility plans conforming to Public Works 
Standards.  It shall be the responsibility of the Developer to provide an acceptable point 
of discharge for stormwater from the development which will not harm or inconvenience 
any adjacent or downstream properties and that conforms to Public Works Standards. 
This will need to be addressed for each separate construction phase.  An acceptable point 
of discharge is to be designated by the Design Engineer and approved by the City. 

f. A stormwater operation and maintenance plan/agreement (as approved by the City) to 
ensure future operation and maintenance of the stormwater quality and quantity 
facilities. 

g. An erosion and sediment control plan for the site grading and earth disturbing activities 
conforming to Public Works Standards.  A 1200-C permit will need to be obtained by 
the Developer from DEQ for any site disturbance of one or more acres through clearing, 
grading, excavating, or stockpiling of fill material. Prior to Site Development Permit 



 

City Council Order of Approval, Land Use File #1-02/17 
Lambert Place Subdivision 

Page 21 of 21 

issuance, the Developer shall provide written documentation that a 1200-C permit has 
been issued by DEQ for the project.  

2. The subdivision plan shall be revised such that the distance between Street B and Street C is 
no more than 600 feet.  Alternately, the subdivision plan shall be revised to provide a 10-
foot wide walkway within a 15-foot wide dedicated tract east/west through the block.  The 
tract shall be dedicated either to the City or to the Homeowners Association by the final plat. 

VI. OTHER PERMITS AND RESTRICTIONS 

The applicant is herein advised that the use of the property involved in this application may require 
additional permits from the City or other local, state or federal agencies. 

The City of Stayton land use review and approval process does not take the place of, or relieve the 
Applicant of responsibility for acquiring such other permits, or satisfy any restrictions or conditions 
there on.  The land use permit approval herein does not remove, alter, or impair in any way the 
covenants or restrictions imposed on this property by deed or other instrument. 

According to Section 17.12.120.7 this approval shall be effective only when the right granted herein 
is commenced within one year of the effective date of the decision.  Therefore the engineering plans 
for construction must be submitted no later than June 19, 2018. 

VII. APPEAL DATES 

The City Council’s action may be appealed to the Oregon Land Use Board of Appeals pursuant to 
ORS 197.830. 

APPROVED BY A VOTE OF THE STAYTON CITY COUNCIL ON THE 19th DAY OF JUNE, 
2017. 
 
 
  CITY OF STAYTON 
 
 
 Signed ________, 2017 By:_________________________________ 
 Henry A. Porter, Mayor 
  
 
 
 Signed ________, 2017 ATTEST: ____________________________________ 
 Keith D. Campbell, City Administrator 
  
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Wallace W. Lien, Special Land Use Counsel



 

City of Stayton Standard Conditions of Approval for Land Use Applications Page 1 of 2 

Standard Conditions of Approval for Land Use Applications 

1. Minor variations to the approved plan shall be permitted provided the development substantially 
conforms to the submitted plans, conditions of approval, and all applicable standards contained in 
the Stayton Land Use and Development Code. 

2. Agency Approval:  The applicant shall obtain all necessary permits and approvals from the City of 
Stayton prior to construction of the project. 

3. Change in Use - Any change in the use of the premises from that identified in the application shall 
require the City Planner to determine that the proposed use is an allowed use and that adequate 
parking is provided on the parcel. 

4. Landscaping - The applicant shall remain in substantial conformance to the approved landscaping 
plan and follow the criteria established in SMC 17.20.090 for maintenance and irrigation.  Dead 
plants shall be replaced within six months with a specimen of the same species and similar size class. 

5. Utilities - Utility companies shall be notified early in the design process and in advance of 
construction to coordinate all parties impacted by the construction. 

6. Agency Approval - The Developer shall be responsible for all costs relating to the required public 
improvements identified in the approved plan and the specific conditions of approval and within the 
City Ordinances and Standard Specifications.  The developer is also responsible for securing design 
approval from all City, State and Federal agencies having jurisdiction over the work proposed.  This 
includes, but is not limited to, the City of Stayton, the Fire District, Marion County, DEQ, ODHS 
(water design), DSL, 1200C (state excavation permit), etc 

7. Construction Bonding - Bonding shall be required if there are any public improvements.  Prior to 
start of construction of any public improvement, the developer shall provide a construction bond in 
the amount of 100% of the total project costs, plus added City costs associated with public 
construction.  The bond shall be in a form acceptable to the Director of Public Works. 

8. Inspection - At least five days prior to commencing construction of any public improvements, the 
Developer shall notify the Director of Public Works in writing of the date when (s)he proposes to 
commence construction of the improvements, so that the City can arrange for inspection.  The 
written notification shall include the name and phone number of the contracting company and the 
responsible contact person.  City inspection will not relieve the developer or his engineer of 
providing sufficient inspection to enforce the approved plans and specifications. 

9. Public Works Standards - Where public improvements are required, all public and private public 
works facilities within the development will be designed to the City of Stayton, Standard 
Specifications, Design Standards & Drawings (PW Standards) plus the requirements of the Stayton 
Municipal Code (SMC).  (SMC 12.08.310.1) 

10. Engineered Plans - Where public improvements are required, the applicant’s engineer shall submit 
design plans for approval of all public improvements identified on the approved plan or as specified 
in conditions of approval.  All design plans must meet the Stayton PW Standards.  Engineered 
construction plans and specifications shall be reviewed by the City Engineer and signed approved by 
the City Engineer, or Stayton Public Works Department, prior to construction. 

11. Street Acceptance - Where public improvements are required, acceptance of completed public 
street improvements associated with the project shall be in accordance with SMC 12.04.210. 



 

City of Stayton Standard Conditions of Approval for Land Use Applications Page 2 of 2 

12. Construction Approval - All public improvements and public utilities shall be fully constructed and 
a letter of substantial completion provided by the City Engineer prior to any building permit 
applications being accepted or issued unless the required improvements are deferred under a non-
remonstrance or other agreement approved and signed by the City.  Construction items must be 
completed within a specified period of time provided in the approval letter or the approval of any 
additional building permits will be withdrawn by the City. 

13. Maintenance Bond - After completion and acceptance of a public improvement by the City, the 
developer shall provide a 1-year maintenance bond in the amount of 30% of the construction bond 
amount.  The bond shall be in a form acceptable to the Director of Public Works. 

14. As-Builts - Where public improvements are required, the developer shall submit to the City, 
reproducible as-built drawings and an electronic file of all public improvements constructed during 
and in conjunction with this project.  Field changes made during construction shall be drafted to the 
drawings in the same manner as the original plans with clear indication of all modifications (strike 
out old with new added beside).  As-built drawings shall be submitted prior to final acceptance of the 
construction, initiating the one-year maintenance period. 

15. Drainage Permit – A 1200C permit will be secured by the developer if required under the rules of 
the Oregon State DEQ. 

16. SDC - Systems Development Charges are applied to the project at the time of issuance of a building 
permit. 

 
 



 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Henry Porter and the Stayton City Council 

 FROM: Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning and Development 
  Lance Ludwick, Public Works Director 

 DATE: June 19, 2017 

 SUBJECT: Resolution 960 Authorizing Submittal of Grant Application to 
Bonneville Environmental Foundation 

  
 
ISSUE 

The issue before the Council is authorization to staff to apply for funds from the Bonneville 
Environmental Foundation to support the development of the City’s stormwater system. 

BACKGROUND 

The City’s Stormwater Master Plan calls for over $20 million in improvements to the City 
stormwater system.  The City has established a stormwater utility and a stormwater SDC in 
order to fund the operation and maintenance of the stormwater system and capital 
improvements. 

Utilizing an appropriation from the State budget, the City has acquired property for the 
construction of a regional stormwater detention basin and begun the design of the basin. 

Staff has just been informed of the possible availability of grant funds through the Bonneville 
Environmental Foundation.  These funds must be used for urban stormwater or rural irrigation 
improvements in areas in the Willamette Basin that will yield measurable water benefits.  Staff 
believes that the Shaff Rd detention basin can demonstrate benefits to both by diverting urban 
stormwater out of the Salem Ditch. 

The funding is still tentative but information must be received from the City by the end of June.  
Therefore staff is requesting authorization to apply for funding. 

Attached is a draft Resolution authorizing application for funding from the Bonneville 
Environmental Foundation. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends the City apply to the Bonneville Environmental Foundation for funding to 
support the development of the Shaff Rd detention basin. 

OPTIONS AND MOTIONS 

The City Council is presented with the following options. 



 

1. Approve Resolution 960 Authorizing the Submission of an Application for funding to the 
Bonneville Environmental Foundation 

Move to approve Resolution 960 Authorizing the City Administrator to submit an 
application to the Bonneville Environmental Foundation. 

2. Take no Action. 

No motion is necessary. 

 



 

  
Resolution No. 960 - Authorization to Apply for Funding from the Bonneville Environmental Foundation  Page 1 of 1 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 960 
 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF STAYTON TO APPLY FOR A 
STORMWATER ENHANCEMENT GRANT FROM THE BONNEVILLE 
ENVIRONMENTAL FOUNDATION. 
  
 WHEREAS, the Bonneville Environmental Foundation is accepting applications for the 
funding for stormwater investments that will provide measurable water benefits within the 
Willamette Valley; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Stayton Stormwater Master Plan calls for $26,000,000 in capital 
improvements to address the City’s stormwater needs; 
 

WHEREAS, the City has purchased property for the construction of a regional stormwater 
detention facility; 
 

WHEREAS, construction of the regional stormwater detention facility will divert storm 
water from the Salem Ditch and improve water quality; 

 
WHEREAS, a requirement of the grant application process is that the application include 

an approved resolution from the governing body authorizing the grant application. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Stayton, through its City 
Administrator, shall apply to the Bonneville Environmental Foundation for funding for stormwater 
improvements. 
 
This Resolution shall become effective upon adoption by the Stayton City Council. 
 
ADOPTED BY THE STAYTON CITY COUNCIL this 19th day of June, 2017 
 
      CITY OF STAYTON 
 
 
Date:_______________, 2017 By:_________________________________  
 Henry A. Porter, Mayor 
 
 
Date:_______________, 2017 Attest:_________________________________ 
 Keith D. Campbell, City Administrator 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
____________________________ 
David A. Rhoten, City Attorney 



 
Charter Review Committee Proposed Changes  Page 1 of 2  
June 19, 2017 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 
TO:   Mayor Henry A. Porter and the Stayton City Council 
 
FROM:  Keith Campbell, City Administrator  
 
DATE:   June 19, 2017 
 
SUBJECT:  Charter Review Committee Proposed Changes 
  
     
ISSUE 
Should the City Council approve the recommended updates provided by the Charter Review 
Committee and refer those updates to the voters of Stayton? 
 
ENCLOSURE(S) 

1. Redline version showing proposed changes to the current Charter 

2. Working template providing current language, League of Oregon Cities model charter 
language, notes, and proposed changes. 

3. Resolution No. 961, Referring the Charter to the Voters for Consideration 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
On February 6th, the Stayton City Council unanimously approved the establishment of a Charter 
Review Committee to review and make formal recommendations and considerations. The City 
made a public call for volunteers and contracted with the Mid-Willamette Valley Council of 
Governments to lead the Committee. The Charter Review Committee was comprised of the 
following members: 
 

• Nancy Boyer, Mid-Willamette Valley Council of Governments 
• Henry Porter, Mayor 
• Brian Quigley, City Councilor 
• David Rhoten, City Attorney 
• Keith Campbell, City Administrator 
• Lance Ludwick, Public Works Director 
• Gerry Aboud, Citizen and former Mayor 
• Ralph Lewis, Citizen and former City Councilor 
• Dorothy Loftin, Citizen 
• Judith Mohney, Citizen 
• Wayne Lindsey, Citizen 

   



 
Charter Review Committee Proposed Changes  Page 2 of 2  
June 19, 2017 

The Committee met at the Stayton Public Library on three occasions, April 11th, April 25th, and 
May 16th.  The Committee reviewed the current charter and the League of Oregon Cities Model 
Charter and discussed current language and proposed changes. The Committee worked from 
the enclosed template which provides comparative language from the current Stayton Charter 
and the language of the LOC Model Charter. The document highlights the difference between 
the two documents and provides notes of research or discussion. This document also provides 
the proposed changes. The enclosed Redline document easily highlights the changes as 
proposed by the Charter Review Committee to the Stayton Charter. 

    
OPTIONS 
1. Approve the changes to the Stayton Charter as proposed. 

2. Approve the Stayton Charter as proposed with the following modifications_________. 

3. Remand the matter back to the Committee for further consideration. 

4. No Action. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends approving the changes to the City of Stayton Charter and referring the 
proposed changes to the November 7th General Election for voter consideration. 
 
MOTION(S) 
1. Approve the changes to the City of Stayton Charter and approve Resolution No. 961, 

referring the Charter to the voters for consideration at the November 7, 2017 General 
Election. 

 
2. Approve the Stayton Charter as proposed with the following modifications_________ and 

approve Resolution No. 961, referring the Charter to the voters for consideration at the 
November 7, 2017 General Election. 

 
3. Remand the matter back to the Committee for further consideration. 



 
 

2010 

CITY OF STAYTON 

CHARTER 
 
 

 Enacted by Resolution No. 844 
  
 August 17, 2009 
 
 Effective 1 January 2010January 1, 2018 
 
 
 
 
This is a true and certified copy of the 2010 2018 City of Stayton Charter as approved by voters 
on November 7, 2017.03, 2009. 
 
     
             
      Keith D. Campbell, City AdministratorManager 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 2 of 16 
Effective January 1, 2018 

 
CONTENTS 

PREAMBLE ....................................................................................................................................... 3 

CHAPTER I - NAMES AND BOUNDARIES ......................................................................................... 4 

CHAPTER II - POWERS ..................................................................................................................... 5 

CHAPTER III - ELECTED OFFICIALS ................................................................................................... 6 

Chapter IV - LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY ............................................................................................ 7 

Chapter V - ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY ..................................................................................... 9 

Chapter VI - QUASI-JUDICIAL AUTHORITY .................................................................................... 10 

Chapter VII - ELECTIONS ................................................................................................................ 11 

Chapter VIII - APPOINTIVE OFFICERS ............................................................................................ 13 

Chapter IX - PERSONNEL ............................................................................................................... 15 

Chapter X - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS ................................................................................... 16 

 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 3 of 16 
Effective January 1, 2018 

PREAMBLE 
 

e, the voters of Stayton, Oregon, exercise our power to the fullest extent possible under 
the Oregon Constitution and laws of the state, and enact this Home Rule Charter. W 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 4 of 16 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER I - NAMES AND BOUNDARIES 
 
SECTION 1.  TITLE.  This charter may be referred to as the 2010 2018 City of Stayton Charter. 
 
SECTION 2.  NAME.  The City of Stayton, Oregon, continues as a municipal corporation with the 
name City of Stayton. 
 
SECTION 3.  BOUNDARIES.  The city includes all territory within its boundaries as they now exist or 
are legally modified.  The city will maintain as a public record an accurate and current 
description of its boundaries. 
 
SECTION 4.  ANNEXATIONS.  Annexations over one three acres not required by state law must be 
approved by city voters before the annexations take effect. 

 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 5 of 16 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER II - POWERS 
 
SECTION 5.  POWERS.  The city has all powers that the constitutions, statutes and common law of 
the United States and Oregon expressly or impliedly grant or allow the city, as fully as though 
this charter specifically enumerated each of those powers. 

 
SECTION 6.  CONSTRUCTION.  The charter will be liberally construed so that the city may exercise 
fully all powers possible under this charter and under United States and Oregon law. 
 
SECTION 7.  DISTRIBUTION.  The Oregon Constitution reserves initiative and referendum powers as 
to all municipal legislation to city voters.  This charter vests all other city powers in the council 
except as the charter otherwise provides.  The council has legislative, administrative and quasi-
judicial authority.  The council exercises legislative authority by ordinance, administrative 
authority by resolution, and quasi-judicial authority by order.  The council may not delegate its 
authority to adopt ordinances. 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 6 of 16 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER III - ELECTED OFFICIALS 
 
SECTION 8.  COUNCIL.  The council consists of five councilors nominated and elected from the city 
at large or from wards with boundaries set by ordinance. 
 
SECTION 9.  MAYOR.  The mayor presides over and facilitates council meetings, preserves order, 
enforces council rules and determines the order of business under council rules.  The mayor is 
not a member of the council and has no vote unless there is a tie vote.  The mayor has authority 
to require the council to reconsider ordinances.  The mayor appoints members of commissions 
and committees established by ordinance or resolution with the approval of a majority vote of 
the council.  The mayor must sign all records of council decisions and as authorized by rule, 
unless otherwise provided in this Charter.  The mayor serves as the political head of the city 
government. 
 
SECTION 10.  COUNCIL PRESIDENT.  At its first meeting each year, the council must elect a president 
from its membership.  The president presides in the absence of the mayor and acts as mayor 
when the mayor is unable to perform duties, including signing records of council decisions and 
as authorized by rule.  When acting as mayor the president retains a vote, but does not have a 
tie vote or authority to require reconsideration of ordinances. 
 
SECTION 11.  RULES.  The council must adopt by resolution rules to govern its meetings and 
proceedings. 
 
SECTION 12.  MEETINGS.  The council must meet at least once a month at a time and place 
designated by council rules, and may meet at other times in accordance with the rules. 
 
SECTION 13.  QUORUM.  Three or more council members are a quorum to conduct business, but 
two members may meet and compel attendance of absent members as prescribed by council 
rules. 
 
SECTION 14.  VOTE REQUIRED.  The express approval of a majority of a quorum of the council is 
necessary for any council decision, except when this charter requires approval by a majority of 
the council. 
 
SECTION 15.  RECORD.  A record of council meetings must be kept in a manner prescribed by the 
council rules. 
 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 7 of 16 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER IV - LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
 
SECTION 16.  ORDINANCES.  The council will exercise its legislative authority by enacting ordinances.  
The enacting clause for all ordinances must state “The City of Stayton ordains:” 
 
SECTION 17.  ORDINANCE ENACTMENT. 
 
(a) Except as authorized by subsection (b), enactment of an ordinance requires approval by a 

majority of the council at two meetings. 
 
(b) The council may enact an ordinance at a single meeting by the unanimous approval of at 

least three the councilors in attendance, provided the proposed ordinance is available in 
writing to the public at least seven days before the meeting. 

 
(c) Any substantive amendment to a proposed ordinance must be read aloud or made available 

in writing to the public before the council enacts the ordinance at that meeting. 
 
(d) After the adoption of an ordinance, the vote of each councilor must be entered into the 

council minutes. 
 
(e) When an ordinance is passed, the City Recorder shall endorse it with the date of its passage, 

his/her name and title of office; and within three day thereafter the mayor shall sign and 
date it unless the mayor requires reconsideration of the ordinance. After ordinance 
enactment, the city recorder must attest to the ordinance by name, title and date of 
enactment.  The city recorder must submit the ordinance to the mayor for approval.  If the 
mayor approves the ordinance, the mayor must sign and date it. 

 
(f) If the mayor requires reconsideration of an ordinance, the mayor must return it to the city 

recorder with written reasons for reconsideration within seven days of receipt of the 
ordinance.  If the mayor does not so return it, such ordinance ordinance is not returned, it 
takes effect shall become law as enacted. 

 
(g) At Upon the first regular meeting of the council meeting after the demand for 

reconsideration by the mayor, the council must consider the reasons ofprovided by the 
mayor and again vote on the ordinance.  If at least three councilors vote to enact the 
ordinance, it takes effect.shall become law. If no vote is taken at such meeting on the 
passage of the ordinance, it shall be deemed to have failed to become law. 

 
SECTION 18.  EFFECTIVE DATE OF ORDINANCES.  Ordinances normally take effect on the 30th day after 
enactment, or 30 days from re-enactment after demand for reconsideration by the mayor, or 
on a later day provided in the ordinance.  An ordinance may take effect as soon as enacted or 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 8 of 16 
Effective January 1, 2018 

another date less than 30 days after enactment if it contains an emergency clause. and is 
unanimously approved. 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 9 of 16 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER V - ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY 
 
SECTION 19.  RESOLUTIONS.  The council will normally exercise its administrative authority by 
adopting resolutions.  The adopting clause for resolutions must state “The City of Stayton 
resolves:” 
 
SECTION 20.  RESOLUTION ADOPTION. 
 
(a) Adoption of a resolution or any other council administrative decision requires approval by 

the council at one meeting. 
 
(b) Any substantive amendment to a resolution must be read aloud or made available in writing 

to the public before the council adopts the resolution at that meeting. 
 
(c) After adoption of a resolution or other administrative decision, the vote of each councilor 

must be entered into the council minutes. 
 
(d) After adoption of a resolution, the city recorder must attest to the resolution by name, title 

and date of adoption. 
 
SECTION 21.  EFFECTIVE DATE OF RESOLUTIONS.  Resolutions and other administrative decisions take 
effect on the date of adoption, or on a later date provided in the resolution. 
 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 10 of 16 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER VI - QUASI-JUDICIAL AUTHORITY 
 
SECTION 22.  ORDERS.  The council will normally exercise its quasi-judicial authority by approving 
orders.  The approving clause for orders may state “The City of Stayton orders:” 
 
SECTION 23.  ORDER APPROVAL. 
 
(a) Approval of an order or any other council quasi-judicial decision requires approval by the 

council at one meeting. 
 
(b) Any substantive amendment to a proposed order must be read aloud or made available in 

writing to the public at the meeting before the council approves the order. 
 
(c) After approval of an order or other council quasi-judicial decision, the vote of each councilor 

must be entered in the council minutes. 
(d) After approval of an order, the city recorder must attest to the order by name, title and 

date of adoption. 
 
SECTION 24.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  Orders and other quasi-judicial decisions take effect on the date of 
final approval, or on a later date provided in the order. 
 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 11 of 16 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER VII - ELECTIONS 
 
SECTION 25.  COUNCILORS.  At each general election after the effective date of this charter, three 
councilors will be elected.  The two councilors receiving the highest number of votes are 
elected for four-year terms.  The councilor receiving the third highest number of votes is 
elected to a two-year term. The term of a councilor when this charter is adopted is the term for 
which the councilor was elected. At the first general election after the adoption, three 
councilors will be elected for four-year terms. At the following general election, two councilors 
will be elected for four-year terms. This cycle of electing councilors will continue at following 
general elections. 
 
SECTION 26.  MAYOR.  At every other general election after the effective date of this charter, a 
mayor will be elected for a two-year term.  A mayor may serve no more than three consecutive 
elected two-year terms.  The term of the mayor in office when this charter takes effect 
continues until the beginning of the first odd-numbered year after charter adoption.The term of 
the Mayor in office when this charter is adopted continues until the beginning of the first odd-
numbered year after adoption. At every other general election after the adoption, a mayor will 
be elected for a four-year term. A mayor may serve no more than two consecutive elected four-
year terms. 
 
SECTION 27.  STATE LAW.  City elections must conform to state law except as this charter or 
ordinances provide otherwise.  All elections for city offices must be nonpartisan. 
 
SECTION 28.  QUALIFICATIONS. 
 
(a) The mayor and each councilor must be a qualified elector under state law, and reside within 

the city for at least one year immediately before election or appointment to office. 
 
(b) No person may be a candidate at a single election for more than one city office. 
 
(c) Neither the mayor nor a councilor may be employed by the city. 
 
(d) The council is the final judge of the election and qualifications of elected officials. 
 
SECTION 29.  NOMINATIONS.  The council must adopt an ordinance prescribing the manner for a 
person to be nominated to run for mayor or a councilor position.  A petition for elective office 
must be signed by the nominee and at least 10 city electors. 
 
SECTION 30.  TERMS.  The term of an officer elected at a general election begins at the first council 
meeting of the year immediately after the election, and continues until the successor qualifies 
and assumes the office. 
 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 12 of 16 
Effective January 1, 2018 

SECTION 31.  OATH.  The mayor and each councilor must swear or affirm to faithfully perform the 
duties of the office and support the constitutions and laws of the United States and Oregon, ; 
and support the charter, ordinances, and resolutions, and municipal code of the city. 
 
SECTION 32.  VACANCIES.  Office of the mayor or councilor becomes vacant: 
 
(a) Upon the incumbent’s: 

 
(1) Death, 
(2) Adjudicated incompetence, or 
(3) Recall from the office. 

 
(b) Upon declaration by the council after the incumbent’s: 

 
(1) Failure to qualify for the office within 10 days of the time the term of office is to begin; 
(2)  Absence from the city for 30 days, or from all council meetings within a 60-day period 

without consent from the council; 
(3) Ceasing to reside in the city; 
(4) Ceasing to be a qualified elector under state law; 
(5) Conviction of a public offense punishable by loss of liberty; 
(6) Resignation from the office; or 
(7) Violation of Section 34(d). 

 
SECTION 33.  FILLING VACANCIES.  A vacancy in the office of mayor will be filled by a majority of the 
council.  A councilor vacancy will be filled by appointment by the mayor with the consent of the 
council.  The term of office for the appointee runs from appointment until expiration of the 
term of office of the last person elected to that office.  If a disability prevents a council member 
from attending council meetings or a member is absent from the city, the mayor with the 
consent of the council may appoint a councilor pro tem. 
 
    
 
 
 
       



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 13 of 16 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER VIII - APPOINTIVE OFFICERS 
 
SECTION 34.  CITY MANAGERADMINISTRATOR. 
 
(a) The office of administrator city manager is established as the administrative head of the city 

government.  The administrator city manager is responsible to the mayor and council for 
the proper administration of city business.  The administrator city manager will assist the 
mayor and council in the development of city policies, and carry out policies set by 
ordinances and resolutions. 

 
(b) The mayor must appoint and may remove the manager only with the consent of the 

majority of the existing council members council.  The appointment must be made without 
regard to political considerations and solely on the basis of education and experience in 
competencies and practices of local government management. relating to local government 
management. 

 
(c) The duties of the administrator city manager must be set by ordinance. 

 
(d) The mayor and councilors may not directly or indirectly attempt to coerce the administrator 

manager or a candidate for the office of administrator manager in the appointment or 
removal of any city employee, or in administrative decisions regarding city property or 
contracts.  Violation of this prohibition is grounds for removal from office by a majority of 
the council after a public hearing.  In council meetings, councilors may discuss or suggest 
anything with the administrator manager relating to city business. 

 
SECTION 35.  CITY ATTORNEY.  The office of city attorney is established as the chief legal officer of 
the city government.  The mayor must appoint and may remove the city attorney with the 
consent of the council.  The city attorney may designate other lawyers to serve as assistant city 
attorneys or special counsel. 
 
SECTION 36.  MUNICIPAL COURT AND JUDGE. 
 
(a) The mayor may appoint and remove a municipal judge with the consent of the council.  A 

municipal judge will hold court in the city at such place as the council directs.  The court will 
be known as the Municipal Court. 
 

(b) All proceedings of this court will conform to state laws governing justices of the peace and 
justice courts. 

 
(c) All areas within the city and areas outside the city as permitted by state law are within the 

territorial jurisdiction of the court. 
 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 14 of 16 
Effective January 1, 2018 

(d) The municipal court has jurisdiction over every offense created by city ordinance. The court 
may enforce forfeitures and other penalties created by ordinances. The court also has 
jurisdiction under state law unless limited by city ordinance. 

 
(e) The municipal judge may: 
 

(1) Render judgments and impose sanctions on persons and property; 
(2) Order the arrest of anyone accused of an offense against the city; 
(3) Commit to jail or admit to bail anyone accused of a city offense; 
(4) Issue and compel obedience to subpoenas; 
(5) Compel witnesses to appear and testify and jurors to serve for trials before the court; 
(6) Penalize contempt of court; 
(7) Issue processes necessary to enforce judgments and orders of the court; 
(8) Issue search warrants; and 
(9) Perform other judicial and quasi-judicial functions assigned by ordinance. 

 
(f) The mayor may appoint and may remove municipal judges pro tem with the consent of the 

council. 
 
(g) The council may transfer some or all of the functions of the municipal court to a state court. 
 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 15 of 16 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER IX - PERSONNEL 
 
SECTION 37.  PERSONNEL RULES.  The council by resolution will adopt rules governing compensation, 
recruitment, selection, promotion, transfer, demotion, suspension, layoff, and dismissal of city 
employees based on merit and fitness. 
 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 16 of 16 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER X - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
SECTION 38.  DEBT.  City indebtedness may not exceed debt limits imposed by state law.  A charter 
amendment is not required to authorize city indebtedness. 
 
SECTION 39 ORDINANCE CONTINUATION.  All ordinances, Stayton Municipal Code, resolutions, orders 
and rules in force and consistent with this charter when it takes effect remain in effect until 
amended or repealed. 
 
SECTION 40.  REPEAL.  All charter provisions adopted before this charter takes effect are repealed. 
 
SECTION 41.  SEVERABILITY.  The terms of this charter are severable.  If any provision is held invalid 
by a court, the invalidity does not affect any other term of this charter. 
 
SECTION 42.  TIME OF EFFECT.  This charter takes effect January 01, 20180. 
 



Chapter I – Names and Boundaries  

 City of Stayton LOC Model Charter Notes  Recommendation of Charter Review Committee  
Section 4. 
Annexations  

Annexations over one acre not required 
by state law must be approved by city 
voters before the annexations take 
effect.  

Appendix B – Provisions Not Included in 
the Model Charter – Annexation 
Procedure. An Oregon city may not 
assume extramural power under its home 
rule charter unless authorized by state 
statute.  City power under the home rule 
amendments is only intramural in 
character.  A city may only exercise the 
extramural power delegated by the 
legislature.  A home rule charter may 
provide a procedure for the intramural 
aspects of annexation, such as the 
manner of acceptance of the annexation 
by the city.  The model charter contains 
no provision relating to annexation of 
territory to a city because state statutes 
control annexation procedures in both its 
extramural and intramural aspects.   

Passed as part of a larger package of bills 
crafted to increase affordable housing, 
Senate Bill 1573 effectively nullifies 
provisions in 34 cities that require public 
votes on annexations. 
 
For now, the issue is tied up in court. The 
result of the Corvallis lawsuit will 
determine if the new state law is 
constitutional. 
 
Benton County Circuit Court Judge Matthew 
Donohue ruled in favor of the state in a 
summary judgment issued Friday (February 
2017) on SB 1573, the state law signed by 
Gov. Kate Brown in March 2016.   

Annexations over one  three acres not required 
by state law must be approved by city voters 
before the annexations take effect. 

 

Chapter III – Elected Officials  

 City of Stayton LOC Model Charter Notes  Recommendation of Charter Review Committee 
Section 8.  Council  The Council consists of five councilors 

nominated and elected from the city at 
large or from wards with boundaries set 
by ordinance.  

The council consists of a mayor and six 
councilors nominated and elected from 
the city at large.  

Although some charters provide that the 
mayor is not a member of the council, this 
model recommends that the council include 
the mayor as a member.  This means that the 
mayor participates in and votes on matters 
before the council as do other council 
members.  If the mayor is not to have a 
council vote, then this section should state 
that the council consists of a specified 
number of councilors selected by the city at 
large.   
 
Most Oregon cities nominate and elect 

The Council consists of five councilors nominated 
and elected from the city at large.  or from wards 
with boundaries set by ordinance. 

http://www.oregonlive.com/front-porch/index.ssf/2016/03/watered_down_housing_deal_may.html


councilors at large.  Some nominate and 
elect councilors by district or ward.  A third 
option is to nominate by district and elect at 
large.  If there are districts, then the district 
boundaries must be specified.  The most 
efficient way of doing this is by ordinance.  
For that purpose, this section could read: 
“The council consists of a mayor nominated 
and elected at large, and six councilors 
nominated and elected by district with the 
boundaries fixed by ordinance.” District 
boundaries must be periodically adjusted to 
meet equal protection requirements.   Most 
charters that provide for election of 
councilors by district also require as a 
qualification that each councilor reside in the 
district the councilor represents and 
continue to so reside for the term of office.   

Section 9.  Mayor  The mayor presides over and facilitates 
council meetings, preserves order, 
enforces council rules and determines 
the order of business under council 
rules.  The mayor is not a member of the 
council and has no vote unless there is a 
tie vote.  The mayor has authority to 
require the council to reconsider 
ordinances.  The mayor appoints 
members of commissions and 
committees established by ordinance or 
resolution with the approval of a 
majority vote of the council.  The mayor 
must sign all records of council 
decisions.  The mayor serves as the 
political head of the city government.   

The mayor presides over and facilitates 
council meetings, preserves order, 
enforces council rules, and determines 
the order of business under council rules.  
The mayor is a voting member of the 
council and has no veto authority. With 
the consent of council, the mayor 
appoints members of commissions and 
committees established by ordinance or 
resolution. The mayor must sign all 
records of council decisions.  The mayor 
serves as the political head of the city 
government.   

Some charters permit the mayor to vote only 
to break a tie.  If the mayor’s vote is to be so 
limited, this section needs to be changed 
accordingly.    
 
The section that the mayor must sign all 
records of council decisions could be 
eliminated.  Ordinance and resolutions have 
dates they become effective (with revised 
language) that do not require the signature 
of the mayor.  Are there other decisions of 
the Council which would require the 
signature of the mayor?    

The mayor presides over and facilitates council 
meetings, preserves order, enforces council rules 
and determines the order of business under 
council rules.  The mayor is not a member of the 
council and has no vote unless there is a tie vote.  
The mayor appoints members of commissions 
and committees established by ordinance or 
resolution with the approval of a majority vote 
of the council.  The mayor must sign all records 
of council decisions and as authorized by rule, 
unless otherwise provided in this Charter.  The 
mayor serves as the political head of the city 
government.   

Section 10. Council 
President  

At its first meeting each year, the council 
must elect a president from its 
membership.  The president presides in 
the absence of the mayor and acts as 

At its first meeting each year, the council 
must elect a president from its 
membership.  The president presides in 
the absence of the mayor and acts as 

 At its first meeting each year, the council must 
elect a president from its membership.  The 
president presides in the absence of the mayor 
and acts as mayor when the mayor is unable to 



mayor when the mayor is unable to 
perform duties.  When acting as mayor, 
the president retains a vote, but does 
not have a tie vote or authority to 
require reconsideration of ordinances.   

mayor when the mayor is unable to 
perform duties.   

perform duties, including signing records of 
council decisions and as authorized by rule.  
When acting as mayor, the president retains a 
vote, but does not have a tie vote or authority to 
require reconsideration of ordinances.   

 

Chapter IV – Legislative Authority  

 City of Stayton LOC Model Charter Notes  Recommendation of Charter Review Committee 
Section 17.  
Ordinance 
Enactment (b) 

The council may enact an ordinance at a 
single meeting by the unanimous 
approval of at least three councilors, 
provided the proposed ordinance is 
available in writing to the public at least 
seven days before the meeting.   

  The council may enact an ordinance at a single 
meeting by the unanimous approval of at least 
three the councilors in attendance, provided the 
proposed ordinance is available in writing to the 
public at least seven days before the meeting.   

Section 17.  
Ordinance 
Enactment (c)  

Any substantive amendment to a 
proposed ordinance must be read aloud 
or made available in writing to the public 
before the council enacts the ordinance 
at that meeting.   

  Any substantive amendment to a proposed 
ordinance must be read aloud or made available 
in writing to the public before the council enacts 
the ordinance at that meeting.   

Section 17. 
Ordinance 
Enactment (e) 

After ordinance enactment, the city 
recorder must attest to the ordinance by 
name, title and date of enactment.  The 
city recorder must submit the ordinance 
to the mayor for approval.  If the mayor 
approves the ordinance, the mayor must 
sign and date it.   

After adoption of an ordinance, the city 
custodian of records must endorse it with 
the date of adoption and the custodian’s 
name and title.   

 After ordinance enactment, the city recorder 
must attest to the ordinance by name, title and 
date of enactment.  The city recorder must 
submit the ordinance to the mayor for approval.  
If the mayor approves the ordinance, the mayor 
must sign and date it.   
When an ordinance is passed, the city recorder 
shall endorse it with the date of its passage, 
his/her name and title of office; and within 
three days thereafter the mayor shall sign and 
date it unless the mayor requires 
reconsideration of the ordinance.     

Section 17. 
Ordinance 
Enactment (f) 

If the mayor requires reconsideration of 
an ordinance, the mayor must return it 
to the city recorder with written reasons 
for reconsideration within seven days of 
receipt of the ordinance.  If the 
ordinance is not returned, it takes effect 

  If the mayor requires reconsideration of an 
ordinance, the mayor must return it to the city 
recorder with written reasons for 
reconsideration within seven days of receipt of 
the ordinance.  If the ordinance is not returned  
mayor does not so return it, such ordinance it 



as enacted.   takes effect shall become law as enacted.   
Section 17. 
Ordinance 
Enactment (g)  

At the first council meeting after demand 
for reconsideration by the mayor, the 
council must consider the reasons of the 
mayor and again vote on the ordinance.  
If at least three councilors vote to enact 
the ordinance, it takes effect.   

  At Upon the first regular meeting of the council 
meeting after the demand for reconsideration by 
the mayor, the council must consider the 
reasons of provided by the mayor and again vote 
on the ordinance.  If at least three councilors 
vote to enact the ordinance, it takes effect shall 
become law.  If no vote is taken at such meeting 
on the passage of the ordinance, it shall be 
deemed to have failed to become a law.   

Section 18. Effective 
Date of Ordinances  

Ordinances normally take effect on the 
30th day after enactment, or 30 days 
from re-enactment after demand for 
reconsideration by the mayor, or on a 
later date provided in the ordinance.  An 
ordinance may take effect as soon as 
enacted or another date less than 30 
days after enactment if it contains an 
emergency clause and is unanimously 
approved.   

Ordinances normally take effect on the 
30th day after adoption, or on a later day 
provided in the ordinance.  An ordinance 
may take effect as soon as adopted or 
other date less than 30 days after 
adoption if it contains an emergency 
clause.  

 Ordinances normally take effect on the 30th day 
after enactment, or 30 days from re-enactment 
after demand for reconsideration by the mayor, 
or on a later date provided in the ordinance.  An 
ordinance may take effect as soon as enacted or 
another date less than 30 days after enactment if 
it contains an emergency clause. and is 
unanimously approved.   

Chapter VII – Elections  

 City of Stayton LOC Model Charter Notes Recommendation of Charter Review Committee 
Section 25. 
Councilors  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

At each general election after the 
effective date of this charter, three 
councilors will be elected.  The two 
councilors receiving the highest number 
of votes are elected for four-year terms.  
The councilor receiving the third highest 
number of votes is elected to a two-year 
term.    

The term of a councilor in office when 
this charter is adopted is the term for 
which the councilor was elected.  At each 
general election after the adoption, three 
councilors will be elected for four-year 
terms.   

General elections are held on the first 
Tuesday after the first Monday in November 
of even numbered years.   
 
The term of a councilor when this charter is 
adopted is the term for which the councilor 
was elected.  At the first general election 
after the adoption, three councilors will be 
elected for four-year terms.  At the following 
general election, two councilors will be 
elected for four-year terms.   

At each general election after the effective date 
of this charter, three councilors will be elected.  
The two councilors receiving the highest number 
of votes are elected for four-year terms.  The 
councilor receiving the third highest number of 
votes is elected to a two-year term.    
 
The term of a councilor when this charter is 
adopted is the term for which the councilor was 
elected.  At the first general election after the 
adoption, three councilors will be elected for 
four-year terms.  At the following general 
election, two councilors will be elected for four-
year terms.  This cycle of electing councilors will 
continue at following general elections.    



Section 26. Mayor  At every other general election after the 
effective date of this charter, a mayor 
will be elected for a two-year term.  A 
mayor may serve no more than three 
consecutive elected two-year terms.  The 
term of the mayor in office when this 
charter takes effect continues until the 
beginning of the first odd-numbered year 
after charter adoption.  

The term of the mayor in office when this 
charter is adopted continues until the 
beginning of the first odd-numbered year 
after adoption.  At every other general 
election after the adoption, a mayor will 
be elected for a four-year term.   

The term of the mayor in office when this 
charter is adopted continues until the 
beginning of the first odd-numbered year 
after adoption.  At every other general 
election after the adoption, a mayor will be 
elected for a four-year term.   

At every other general election after the effective 
date of this charter, a mayor will be elected for a 
two-year term.  A mayor may serve no more than 
three consecutive elected two-year terms.  The 
term of the mayor in office when this charter 
takes effect continues until the beginning of the 
first odd-numbered year after charter adoption. 
 
The term of the mayor in office when this 
charter is adopted continues until the beginning 
of the first odd-numbered year after adoption.  
At every other general election after the 
adoption, a mayor will be elected for a four-year 
term.  A mayor may serve no more than two 
consecutive elected four-year terms.   
 

Section 29. 
Nominations  

The council must adopt an ordinance 
prescribing the manner for a person to 
be nominated to run for mayor or a 
councilor position.  A petition for elective 
office must be signed by the nominee 
and at least 10 city electors.  

The council must adopt an ordinance 
prescribing the manner for a person to 
be nominated to run for mayor or a city 
councilor position.   

This model charter does not prescribe a 
nominating procedure.  It allows flexibility by 
requiring that an ordinance govern the 
nominating process.   

The council must adopt an ordinance prescribing 
the manner for a person to be nominated to run 
for mayor or a councilor position.  A petition for 
elective office must be signed by the nominee 
and at least 10 city electors. 
 
(Any petition requirements should be included in 
the ordinance adopted by the Council) 

Section 31.  Oath  The mayor and each councilor must 
swear or affirm to faithfully perform the 
duties of the office and support the 
constitutions and laws of the United 
States and Oregon, and the charter, 
ordinances and resolutions of the city.   
 
 

The mayor and each councilor must 
swear or affirm to faithfully perform the 
duties of the office and support the 
constitutions and laws of the United 
States and Oregon.   

 The mayor and each councilor must swear or 
affirm to faithfully perform the duties of the 
office and support the constitutions and laws of 
the United States and Oregon, ; and support the 
charter, ordinances, and resolutions and 
municipal code of the city.   

Section 32. 
Vacancies (b) (2) 

Absence from the city for 30 days, or 
from all council meetings within a 60-day 
period without consent from the council.  

Absence from the city for 30 days 
without council consent, or from all 
council meetings within a 60-day period.   

 No changes recommended    

Section 33.  Filling 
Vacancies  

A vacancy in the office of mayor will be 
filled by a majority of the council.  A 
councilor vacancy will be filled by 

A mayor or councilor vacancy will be 
filled by appointment by a majority of the 
remaining council members.  The 

 No changes recommended  



appointment by the mayor with the 
consent of the council.  The term of 
office for the appointee runs from 
appointment until expiration of the term 
of office of the last person elected to that 
office.   If a disability prevents a council 
member from attending council meetings 
or a member is absent from the city, the 
mayor with the consent of the council 
may appoint a councilor pro tem.   

appointee’s term of office runs from 
appointment until expiration of the term 
of office of the last person elected to that 
office.  If a disability prevents a council 
member from attending council meetings 
or a member is absence from the city, a 
majority of the council may appoint a 
councilor pro tem.   

 

Chapter VIII – Appointive Officers  

 City of Stayton LOC Model Charter Notes  Recommendation of Charter Review Committee 
Section 34. 
Administrator  

Administrator  City Manager   Section 34. Administrator City Manager  

Section 34.  City 
Administrator (a) 

The office of administrator is established 
as the administrative head of the city 
government.  The administrator is 
responsible to the mayor and council for 
the proper administration of city 
business.  The administrator will assist 
the mayor and council in the 
development of city policies, and carry 
out policies set by ordinances and 
resolutions.   

The office of city manager is established 
as the administrative head of the city 
government.  The city manager is 
responsible to the mayor and council for 
the proper administration of all city 
business.  The city manager will assist the 
mayor and council in the development of 
city policies and carry out policies 
established by ordinances and 
resolutions.   

Need to change administrator to city 
manager.   

The office of administrator city manager is 
established as the administrative head of the city 
government.  The administrator city manager is 
responsible to the mayor and council for the 
proper administration of city business.  The 
administrator city manager will assist the mayor 
and council in the development of city policies, 
and carry out policies set by ordinances and 
resolutions.   

Section 34. 
Administrator (b) 

The mayor must appoint and must 
remove the administrator with the 
consent of the council.  The appointment 
must be made without regard to political 
considerations and solely on the basis of 
education and experience relating to 
local government management.  

A majority of the council must appoint 
and may remove the manager.  The 
appointment must be made without 
regard to political considerations and 
solely on the basis of education and 
experience in competencies and practices 
of local government management.   

 The mayor must appoint and must may remove 
the administrator   manager only with the 
consent of the majority of the existing council 
members council.  The appointment must be 
made without regard to political considerations 
and solely on the basis of education and 
experience relating to local government 
management.  in the competencies and 
practices of local government management.   

Section 34. 
Administrator (c)  

The duties of the administrator must be 
set by ordinance.  

The manager must: 
1. Attend all council meetings unless 

excused by the mayor or council: 

The LOC Model Charter has the following 
additional provisions regarding the City 
Manager position: 

The duties of the administrator city manager 
must be set by ordinance.  



2. Make reports and recommendations 
to the mayor and council about the 
needs of the city; 

3. Administer and enforce all city 
ordinances, resolutions, franchises, 
leases, contracts, permits, and other 
city decisions.   

4. Appoint, supervise and remove city 
employees; 

5. Organize city departments and 
administrative structure; 

6. Prepare and administer the annual 
city budget; 

7. Administer city utilities and property; 
8. Encourage and support regional and 

intergovernmental cooperation; 
9. Promote cooperation among the 

council, staff and citizens in 
developing city policies, and building a 
sense of community; 

10. Perform other duties as directed by 
the council; 

11. Delegate duties but remain 
responsible for acts of all 
subordinates.   

• (d) The manager may be appointed 
for a definite or an indefinite term, 
and may be removed at any time by 
a majority of the council.  The council 
must fill the office by appointment as 
soon as practicable after the vacancy 
occurs.   

• (f) The manager has no authority 
over the council or over the judicial 
functions of the municipal judge. 

• (g) The manager and other 
employees designated by the council 
may set at council meetings but have 
no vote.  The manager may take part 
in all council discussions.   

• (h) When the manager is temporarily 
disabled from acting as manager or 
when the office of manager becomes 
vacant, the council must appoint a 
manager pro tem.  The manager pro 
tem has the authority and duties of 
manager, except that a pro tem 
manager may appoint or remove 
employees only with council 
approval.   

Section 34. 
Administrator (d) 

The mayor and councilors may not 
directly or indirectly attempt to coerce 
the administrator or a candidate for the 
office of administrator in the 
appointment or removal of any city 
employee, or in administrative decisions 
regarding city property or contracts.  
Violation of this prohibition is grounds 
for removal from office by a majority of 
the council after a public hearing.  In 
council meetings, councilors may discuss 
or suggest anything with the 
administrator relating to city business.   

No council member may directly or 
indirectly attempt to coerce the manager 
or a candidate for the officer of manager 
in the appointment or removal of any city 
employee, or in administrative decisions 
regarding city property or contracts.  
Violation of this prohibition is grounds for 
removal from office by a majority of the 
council after a public hearing.  In council 
meetings, councilors may discuss or 
suggest anything with the manager 
relating to city business.   

The mayor and councilors may not directly or 
indirectly attempt to coerce the 
administrator manager or a candidate for 
the office of administrator manager in the 
appointment or removal of any city 
employee, or in administrative decisions 
regarding city property or contracts.  
Violation of this prohibition is grounds for 
removal from office by a majority of the 
council after a public hearing.  In council 
meetings, councilors may discuss or suggest 
anything with the administrator manager 
relating to city business.   

The mayor and councilors may not directly or 
indirectly attempt to coerce the administrator 
manager or a candidate for the office of 
administrator manager in the appointment or 
removal of any city employee, or in 
administrative decisions regarding city property 
or contracts.  Violation of this prohibition is 
grounds for removal from office by a majority of 
the council after a public hearing.  In council 
meetings, councilors may discuss or suggest 
anything with the administrator manager 
relating to city business.   



Section 35. City 
Attorney 

The office of city attorney is established 
as the chief legal officer of the city 
government.  The mayor must appoint 
and may remove the city attorney with 
the consent of the council.  The city 
attorney may designate other lawyers to 
serve as assistant city attorneys or 
special counsel.   

The office of city attorney is established as 
the chief legal officer of the city 
government.  A majority of the council 
must appoint and may remove the 
attorney.  The attorney must appoint and 
supervise, and may remove any office 
employees.   

 No changes recommended. 

Section 36. 
Municipal Court and 
Judge  (a) 

The mayor may appoint and remove a 
municipal judge with the consent of the 
council.  A municipal judge will hold 
court in the city at such place as the 
council directs.  The court will be known 
as the Municipal Court.  

A majority of the council may appoint and 
remove a municipal judge.  A municipal 
judge will hold court in the city at such 
place as the council directs.  The court will 
be known as the Municipal Court.   

 No changes recommended.  

Section 36.  
Municipal Court and 
Judge (f) 

The mayor may appoint and may remove 
municipal judges pro tem with the 
consent of the council.  

The council may appoint and remove 
municipal judges pro tem.   

 No changes recommended.   

 

Chapter IX – Personnel 

 City of Stayton LOC Model Charter Notes  Recommendation of Charter Review Committee 
Section 37. 
Personnel Rules 

The council by resolution will adopt rules 
governing compensation, recruitment, 
selection, promotion, transfer, demotion, 
suspension, layoff, and dismissal of city 
employees based on merit and fitness.   

Compensation – The council must 
authorize the compensation of city 
officers and employees as part of its 
approval of the annual city budget.   

ORS 294.352(5) requires that the budget list 
the salary for each officer and employee.  If 
councilors are to receive no compensation 
for their services to the city, the following 
may be added to this section: “However, no 
councilor may receive compensation for 
serving in that capacity.”  This prohibition 
does not prevent reimbursement for 
expenses.  

No changes recommended.   

 

Chapter X – Miscellaneous Provisions  

 City of Stayton LOC Model Charter Notes  Recommendation of Charter Review Committee 
Section 39.  
Ordinance 
Continuation  

All ordinances, resolutions, orders and 
rules in force and consistent with this 
charter when it takes effect remain in 

  All ordinances, Stayton Municipal Code, 
resolutions, orders and rules in force and 
consistent with this charter when it takes effect 



effect until amended or repealed.   remain in effect until amended or repealed.   
 

Public Improvements  

 City of Stayton LOC Model Charter Notes   
  Section 38 Procedure.  The council may be 

ordinance provide for procedures 
governing the making, altering, vacating, 
or abandoning of a public improvement.  
A proposed public improvement may be 
suspended for six months upon 
remonstrance by owners of the real 
property to be specially assessed for the 
improvement.  The number of owners 
necessary to suspend the action will be 
determined by ordinance.   

 No changes recommended.   

  Section 39.  Special Assessments. The 
procedure for levying, collecting and 
enforcing special assessments for public 
improvements or other services charged 
against real property will be governed by 
ordinance.   

 No changes recommended. 

 



 
Resolution No. 961, Measure for Adoption of Revised City Charter Page 1 of 1 
June 19, 2017 

RESOLUTION NO. 961 
 

A RESOLUTION REFERRING TO THE VOTERS OF THE CITY OF STAYTON, 
OREGON, A MEASURE FOR ADOPTION OF A REVISED CITY CHARTER 

 
Whereas, the Stayton City Council determined that revisions be made to the Stayton Charter of 
2010;  
 
Whereas, a Charter Review Committee, facilitated by the assistance of the Mid-Willamette 
Valley Council of Governments, convened and deliberated, proposing revisions to the Charter; 
and,  
 
Whereas, the Stayton City Council concurs with the recommendations as set forth in Exhibit A, 
appended hereto, and directs the referral of the 2018 City of Stayton Charter to the voters of the 
City of Stayton for approval. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
STAYTON, THAT: 
 
Section 1.  The 2018 City of Stayton Charter, attached hereto as Attachment A, is approved for 
submission to the electors of Stayton at the next statewide general election on Tuesday, 
November 7, 2017.  
Section 2.  Provided a majority of the legal voters of the City of Stayton approves the Measure, 
the 2018 City of Stayton Charter shall become effective January 1, 2018, upon certification of 
the vote by the Marion County Clerk.  
 
ADOPTED BY THE STAYTON CITY COUNCIL THIS 19TH DAY OF JUNE, 2017.  
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 
 

 
Date:       By:         
       Henry A. Porter, Mayor 
 
 
 
Date:       Attest:         
       Keith D. Campbell, City Administrator 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM 
 
 
 
 
      
David A. Rhoten, City Attorney 



CITY OF STAYTON
CHARTER 

Effective January 1, 2018 

This is a true and certified copy of the 2018 City of Stayton Charter as approved by voters on 
November 7, 2017. 

Keith D. Campbell, City Manager 

Attachment A



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 2 of 15 
Effective January 1, 2018 

 
CONTENTS 

PREAMBLE ....................................................................................................................................... 3 

CHAPTER I - NAMES AND BOUNDARIES ......................................................................................... 4 

CHAPTER II - POWERS ..................................................................................................................... 5 

CHAPTER III - ELECTED OFFICIALS ................................................................................................... 6 

Chapter IV - LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY ............................................................................................ 7 

Chapter V - ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY ..................................................................................... 8 

Chapter VI - QUASI-JUDICIAL AUTHORITY ...................................................................................... 9 

Chapter VII - ELECTIONS ................................................................................................................ 10 

Chapter VIII - APPOINTIVE OFFICERS ............................................................................................ 12 

Chapter IX - PERSONNEL ............................................................................................................... 14 

Chapter X - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS ................................................................................... 15 

 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 3 of 15 
Effective January 1, 2018 

PREAMBLE 
 

e, the voters of Stayton, Oregon, exercise our power to the fullest extent possible under 
the Oregon Constitution and laws of the state, and enact this Home Rule Charter. W 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 4 of 15 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER I - NAMES AND BOUNDARIES 
 
SECTION 1.  TITLE.  This charter may be referred to as the 2018 City of Stayton Charter. 
 
SECTION 2.  NAME.  The City of Stayton, Oregon, continues as a municipal corporation with the 
name City of Stayton. 
 
SECTION 3.  BOUNDARIES.  The city includes all territory within its boundaries as they now exist or 
are legally modified.  The city will maintain as a public record an accurate and current 
description of its boundaries. 
 
SECTION 4.  ANNEXATIONS.  Annexations over three acres not required by state law must be 
approved by city voters before the annexations take effect. 

 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 5 of 15 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER II - POWERS 
 
SECTION 5.  POWERS.  The city has all powers that the constitutions, statutes and common law of 
the United States and Oregon expressly or impliedly grant or allow the city, as fully as though 
this charter specifically enumerated each of those powers. 

 
SECTION 6.  CONSTRUCTION.  The charter will be liberally construed so that the city may exercise 
fully all powers possible under this charter and under United States and Oregon law. 
 
SECTION 7.  DISTRIBUTION.  The Oregon Constitution reserves initiative and referendum powers as 
to all municipal legislation to city voters.  This charter vests all other city powers in the council 
except as the charter otherwise provides.  The council has legislative, administrative and quasi-
judicial authority.  The council exercises legislative authority by ordinance, administrative 
authority by resolution, and quasi-judicial authority by order.  The council may not delegate its 
authority to adopt ordinances. 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 6 of 15 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER III - ELECTED OFFICIALS 
 
SECTION 8.  COUNCIL.  The council consists of five councilors nominated and elected from the city 
at large. 
 
SECTION 9.  MAYOR.  The mayor presides over and facilitates council meetings, preserves order, 
enforces council rules and determines the order of business under council rules.  The mayor is 
not a member of the council and has no vote unless there is a tie vote.  The mayor has authority 
to require the council to reconsider ordinances.  The mayor appoints members of commissions 
and committees established by ordinance or resolution with the approval of a majority vote of 
the council.  The mayor must sign all records of council decisions and as authorized by rule, 
unless otherwise provided in this Charter.  The mayor serves as the political head of the city 
government. 
 
SECTION 10.  COUNCIL PRESIDENT.  At its first meeting each year, the council must elect a president 
from its membership.  The president presides in the absence of the mayor and acts as mayor 
when the mayor is unable to perform duties, including signing records of council decisions and 
as authorized by rule.  When acting as mayor the president retains a vote, but does not have a 
tie vote or authority to require reconsideration of ordinances. 
 
SECTION 11.  RULES.  The council must adopt by resolution rules to govern its meetings and 
proceedings. 
 
SECTION 12.  MEETINGS.  The council must meet at least once a month at a time and place 
designated by council rules, and may meet at other times in accordance with the rules. 
 
SECTION 13.  QUORUM.  Three or more council members are a quorum to conduct business, but 
two members may meet and compel attendance of absent members as prescribed by council 
rules. 
 
SECTION 14.  VOTE REQUIRED.  The express approval of a majority of a quorum of the council is 
necessary for any council decision, except when this charter requires approval by a majority of 
the council. 
 
SECTION 15.  RECORD.  A record of council meetings must be kept in a manner prescribed by the 
council rules. 
 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 7 of 15 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER IV - LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
 
SECTION 16.  ORDINANCES.  The council will exercise its legislative authority by enacting ordinances.  
The enacting clause for all ordinances must state “The City of Stayton ordains:” 
 
SECTION 17.  ORDINANCE ENACTMENT. 
 
(a) Except as authorized by subsection (b), enactment of an ordinance requires approval by a 

majority of the council at two meetings. 
 
(b) The council may enact an ordinance at a single meeting by the unanimous approval of  the 

councilors in attendance, provided the proposed ordinance is available  to the public at 
least seven days before the meeting. 

 
(c) Any substantive amendment to a proposed ordinance must be read aloud or made available 

to the public before the council enacts the ordinance at that meeting. 
 
(d) After the adoption of an ordinance, the vote of each councilor must be entered into the 

council minutes. 
 
(e) When an ordinance is passed, the City Recorder shall endorse it with the date of its passage, 

his/her name and title of office; and within three day thereafter the mayor shall sign and 
date it unless the mayor requires reconsideration of the ordinance.  

 
(f) If the mayor requires reconsideration of an ordinance, the mayor must return it to the city 

recorder with written reasons for reconsideration within seven days of receipt of the 
ordinance.  If the mayor does not so return it, such ordinance shall become law as enacted. 

 
(g) Upon the first regular meeting of the council after the demand for reconsideration by the 

mayor, the council must consider the reasons provided by the mayor and vote on the 
ordinance.  If at least three councilors vote to enact the ordinance, it shall become law. If no 
vote is taken at such meeting on the passage of the ordinance, it shall be deemed to have 
failed to become law. 

 
SECTION 18.  EFFECTIVE DATE OF ORDINANCES.  Ordinances normally take effect on the 30th day after 
enactment, or 30 days from re-enactment after demand for reconsideration by the mayor, or 
on a later day provided in the ordinance.  An ordinance may take effect as soon as enacted or 
another date less than 30 days after enactment if it contains an emergency clause. 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 8 of 15 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER V - ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY 
 
SECTION 19.  RESOLUTIONS.  The council will normally exercise its administrative authority by 
adopting resolutions.  The adopting clause for resolutions must state “The City of Stayton 
resolves:” 
 
SECTION 20.  RESOLUTION ADOPTION. 
 
(a) Adoption of a resolution or any other council administrative decision requires approval by 

the council at one meeting. 
 
(b) Any substantive amendment to a resolution must be read aloud or made available in writing 

to the public before the council adopts the resolution at that meeting. 
 
(c) After adoption of a resolution or other administrative decision, the vote of each councilor 

must be entered into the council minutes. 
 
(d) After adoption of a resolution, the city recorder must attest to the resolution by name, title 

and date of adoption. 
 
SECTION 21.  EFFECTIVE DATE OF RESOLUTIONS.  Resolutions and other administrative decisions take 
effect on the date of adoption, or on a later date provided in the resolution. 
 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 9 of 15 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER VI - QUASI-JUDICIAL AUTHORITY 
 
SECTION 22.  ORDERS.  The council will normally exercise its quasi-judicial authority by approving 
orders.  The approving clause for orders may state “The City of Stayton orders:” 
 
SECTION 23.  ORDER APPROVAL. 
 
(a) Approval of an order or any other council quasi-judicial decision requires approval by the 

council at one meeting. 
 
(b) Any substantive amendment to a proposed order must be read aloud or made available in 

writing to the public at the meeting before the council approves the order. 
 
(c) After approval of an order or other council quasi-judicial decision, the vote of each councilor 

must be entered in the council minutes. 
(d) After approval of an order, the city recorder must attest to the order by name, title and 

date of adoption. 
 
SECTION 24.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  Orders and other quasi-judicial decisions take effect on the date of 
final approval, or on a later date provided in the order. 
 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 10 of 15 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER VII - ELECTIONS 
 
SECTION 25.  COUNCILORS.   The term of a councilor when this charter is adopted is the term for 
which the councilor was elected. At the first general election after the adoption, three 
councilors will be elected for four-year terms. At the following general election, two councilors 
will be elected for four-year terms. This cycle of electing councilors will continue at following 
general elections. 
 
SECTION 26.  MAYOR.  The term of the Mayor in office when this charter is adopted continues until 
the beginning of the first odd-numbered year after adoption. At every other general election 
after the adoption, a mayor will be elected for a four-year term. A mayor may serve no more 
than two consecutive elected four-year terms. 
 
SECTION 27.  STATE LAW.  City elections must conform to state law except as this charter or 
ordinances provide otherwise.  All elections for city offices must be nonpartisan. 
 
SECTION 28.  QUALIFICATIONS. 
 
(a) The mayor and each councilor must be a qualified elector under state law, and reside within 

the city for at least one year immediately before election or appointment to office. 
 
(b) No person may be a candidate at a single election for more than one city office. 
 
(c) Neither the mayor nor a councilor may be employed by the city. 
 
(d) The council is the final judge of the election and qualifications of elected officials. 
 
SECTION 29.  NOMINATIONS.  The council must adopt an ordinance prescribing the manner for a 
person to be nominated to run for mayor or a councilor position. 
 
SECTION 30.  TERMS.  The term of an officer elected at a general election begins at the first council 
meeting of the year immediately after the election, and continues until the successor qualifies 
and assumes the office. 
 
SECTION 31.  OATH.  The mayor and each councilor must swear or affirm to faithfully perform the 
duties of the office and support the constitutions and laws of the United States and Oregon; 
and support the charter, ordinances, resolutions, and municipal code of the city. 
 
SECTION 32.  VACANCIES.  Office of the mayor or councilor becomes vacant: 
 
(a) Upon the incumbent’s: 

 
(1) Death, 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 11 of 15 
Effective January 1, 2018 

(2) Adjudicated incompetence, or 
(3) Recall from the office. 

 
(b) Upon declaration by the council after the incumbent’s: 

 
(1) Failure to qualify for the office within 10 days of the time the term of office is to begin; 
(2)  Absence from the city for 30 days, or from all council meetings within a 60-day period 

without consent from the council; 
(3) Ceasing to reside in the city; 
(4) Ceasing to be a qualified elector under state law; 
(5) Conviction of a public offense punishable by loss of liberty; 
(6) Resignation from the office; or 
(7) Violation of Section 34(d). 

 
SECTION 33.  FILLING VACANCIES.  A vacancy in the office of mayor will be filled by a majority of the 
council.  A councilor vacancy will be filled by appointment by the mayor with the consent of the 
council.  The term of office for the appointee runs from appointment until expiration of the 
term of office of the last person elected to that office.  If a disability prevents a council member 
from attending council meetings or a member is absent from the city, the mayor with the 
consent of the council may appoint a councilor pro tem. 
 
    
 
 
 
       



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 12 of 15 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER VIII - APPOINTIVE OFFICERS 
 
SECTION 34.  CITY MANAGER. 
 
(a) The office of city manager is established as the administrative head of the city government.  

The city manager is responsible to the mayor and council for the proper administration of 
city business.  The city manager will assist the mayor and council in the development of city 
policies, and carry out policies set by ordinances and resolutions. 

 
(b) The mayor must appoint and may remove the manager only with the consent of the 

majority of the existing council members.  The appointment must be made without regard 
to political considerations and solely on the basis of education and experience in 
competencies and practices of local government management. 

 
(c) The duties of the city manager must be set by ordinance. 

 
(d) The mayor and councilors may not directly or indirectly attempt to coerce the manager or a 

candidate for the office of manager in the appointment or removal of any city employee, or 
in administrative decisions regarding city property or contracts.  Violation of this prohibition 
is grounds for removal from office by a majority of the council after a public hearing.  In 
council meetings, councilors may discuss or suggest anything with the manager relating to 
city business. 

 
SECTION 35.  CITY ATTORNEY.  The office of city attorney is established as the chief legal officer of 
the city government.  The mayor must appoint and may remove the city attorney with the 
consent of the council.  The city attorney may designate other lawyers to serve as assistant city 
attorneys or special counsel. 
 
SECTION 36.  MUNICIPAL COURT AND JUDGE. 
 
(a) The mayor may appoint and remove a municipal judge with the consent of the council.  A 

municipal judge will hold court in the city at such place as the council directs.  The court will 
be known as the Municipal Court. 
 

(b) All proceedings of this court will conform to state laws governing justices of the peace and 
justice courts. 

 
(c) All areas within the city and areas outside the city as permitted by state law are within the 

territorial jurisdiction of the court. 
 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 13 of 15 
Effective January 1, 2018 

(d) The municipal court has jurisdiction over every offense created by city ordinance. The court 
may enforce forfeitures and other penalties created by ordinances. The court also has 
jurisdiction under state law unless limited by city ordinance. 

 
(e) The municipal judge may: 
 

(1) Render judgments and impose sanctions on persons and property; 
(2) Order the arrest of anyone accused of an offense against the city; 
(3) Commit to jail or admit to bail anyone accused of a city offense; 
(4) Issue and compel obedience to subpoenas; 
(5) Compel witnesses to appear and testify and jurors to serve for trials before the court; 
(6) Penalize contempt of court; 
(7) Issue processes necessary to enforce judgments and orders of the court; 
(8) Issue search warrants; and 
(9) Perform other judicial and quasi-judicial functions assigned by ordinance. 

 
(f) The mayor may appoint and may remove municipal judges pro tem with the consent of the 

council. 
 
(g) The council may transfer some or all of the functions of the municipal court to a state court. 
 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 14 of 15 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER IX - PERSONNEL 
 
SECTION 37.  PERSONNEL RULES.  The council by resolution will adopt rules governing compensation, 
recruitment, selection, promotion, transfer, demotion, suspension, layoff, and dismissal of city 
employees based on merit and fitness. 
 



 
CITY OF STAYTON CHARTER Page 15 of 15 
Effective January 1, 2018 

CHAPTER X - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
SECTION 38.  DEBT.  City indebtedness may not exceed debt limits imposed by state law.  A charter 
amendment is not required to authorize city indebtedness. 
 
SECTION 39 ORDINANCE CONTINUATION.  All ordinances, Stayton Municipal Code, resolutions, orders 
and rules in force and consistent with this charter when it takes effect remain in effect until 
amended or repealed. 
 
SECTION 40.  REPEAL.  All charter provisions adopted before this charter takes effect are repealed. 
 
SECTION 41.  SEVERABILITY.  The terms of this charter are severable.  If any provision is held invalid 
by a court, the invalidity does not affect any other term of this charter. 
 
SECTION 42.  TIME OF EFFECT.  This charter takes effect January 1, 2018. 
 



 
Resolution No. 962, Adopting Fees and Charges for Various City Services Page 1 of 1  
June 19, 2017 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 
TO:   Mayor Henry A. Porter and the Stayton City Council 
 
FROM:  Keith D. Campbell, City Administrator 
 
DATE:   June 19, 2017 
 
SUBJECT:  Resolution No. 962, Adopting Fees and Charges for Various 

City Services 
  
     
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Enclosed you will find Resolution No. 962, which includes recommended changes to the fee 
schedule. Annually, the City reviews and updates its fees and fines schedule to allow for fees for 
services to be adjusted and kept current.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 

The fee schedule assists the City to recover our costs when providing these services as allowed 
by State Statute. 
 
OPTIONS AND MOTIONS 

1. Adopt Resolution No. 962 as presented.  

Move to adopt Resolution No. 962, adopting fees and charges for various City Services as 
presented. 
 

2. Adopt Resolution No. 962 with amendments. 

Move to adopt Resolution No. 962, adopting fees and charges for various City Services as 
amended. 

 
3. Take no action. 

No motion necessary. 
 



 
 

 
Resolution No. 962, Adopting Fees And Charges For Various City Services   Page 1 of 7 

 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 962 
 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING FEES AND CHARGES FOR VARIOUS CITY SERVICES 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Stayton receives requests from citizens for administrative, police, 
municipal court, library, public works, planning, parks and facilities and services requiring the 
expenditure of personnel time and materials; and 

 
WHEREAS, prudent use of the City’s financial resources requires that the City charge fees 
sufficient to recover the cost in personnel time and materials to render the service requested. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council directs that the following fees will be 
charged for services: 
 
ADMINISTRATIVE/CITY WIDE 
Copies  2017-18 Fee 
8.5 X 11 or 8.5 X 14 Per side $0.25 
11 X 17 Per side $0.25 
Large Format Per copy $10.00 
Audio/Digital Recording Per CD $15.00 
Actual if outsourced + admin fee Per request $5.00 
 Video Tapes  

Actual if outsources + admin fee Per request $5.00 
Digital Photos Per Photo $1.00 

Additional pages  $5.00 
Lien Search Per search $5.00 
Fax Transmittals Per page $0.25 

Additional pages Per page $0.00 
Returned Checks/items or Autopay Per item $25.00 
Billing Administrative Fee  10% 
Invoice Late Fee  9% 
Mailing cost, cost of item +10% Minimum $2.50 
All other services not Identified  Actual Cost 
 
POLICE 
 2017-18 Fees & Fines 
Open Records check  $15.00 
Copies of Police Reports; 1st 10 pages  $10.00 
Per page thereafter  $.25 
Copies of Digital Photos Per Page $1.00 
CD of digital photos Each CD $5.00 
Carnival, Amusement Park & Concession Per Year $300.00 



 
 

 
Resolution No. 962, Adopting Fees And Charges For Various City Services   Page 2 of 7 

Promotional/Processional Event Per Event SMC 5.44 
Per Event SMC 10.36 $50.00 

Recurring Events  Per Event $25.00 
Event Street Marking Deposit Per Event $200.00 
Camping Permit Each $0.00 
Solicitor One Year $150.00 
Each Additional Employee One Year $25.00 
Renewal of Solicitor License One Year $25.00 
 
OLCC / OHA License   
Processing Fee Per Application $100.00 
Change of Ownership Per Application $75.00 
License Privilege Change Per Application $75.00 
OLCC / OHA Background and Renewal  Per Year $35.00 
Temporary Per Application $35.00 
Temp. for OLCC Licensed Business Per Application $15.00 
Junk Dealers / Second Hand Per Year $50.00 
 
Police Ordinance Bail for Violations 
Business Regulations  SMC 5.08 $1,000.00 
Medical Marijuana Facilities  SMC 5.12 $1,000.00 
Garage Sales SMC 5.16 $500.00 
Solicitors SMC 5.20 $1,000.00 
Private Security Enterprises SMC 5.28 $1,000.00 
Secondhand Dealers and Pawnbrokers SMC 5.32 $1,000.00 
Animal Control SMC 6.04 $500 (not to exceed) 
Nuisances SMC 8.04 Minimum of $500.00  

Maximum of 
$1,000.00 

Alarms  
Alarm Permit SMC 8.08 $20.00 
Late Permit Fee SMC 8.08 $25.00 
False Alarm First 5 Alarms $0.00 
 Alarms 6-15 $25.00 each 

Alarms 16+ $50.00 each 
Any other Violation of 8.08 Not listed 
previously 

SMC 8.08 $500.00 

Use of Public Parks, Public Property and 
Waterways 

SMC 8.12 $500.00 

Violation of Public Peace and Welfare SMC 9 $1,000.00 
Violation of Prohibited Parking 
    Parking in Alley 
    No Parking Zone 

SMC 10.12.040240 
ORS 811.550 

$110.00 

Violation of Loading Zone SMC10.12.070340 $110.00 



 
 

 
Resolution No. 962, Adopting Fees And Charges For Various City Services   Page 3 of 7 

Violation of Promotional / Processional / 
Event Permit 

SMC 10.36 $1,000.00 

Parking on a Sidewalk 
    Damaging Sidewalks and Curbs 

SMC 10.12.040 
SMC 10.40.1040  
ORS 811.570(1) 

$110.00 or Cost 
of repairs 

Crossing Private Property SMC 10.40.1010 $110.00 
Violation of Truck Routes SMC 10.40.1060 $110.00 
Parking for Certain Purposes Prohibited 
     Displaying a Vehicle for Sale 
     Repairing a Vehicle 
     Displaying Temporary Advertising 
     Selling from a Vehicle 

SMC 10.12.050310 

$110.00 

Unlawful Storage on the Street SMC 10.12.060320 $110.00 
Violation of Bus and Taxi SMC SMC 

10.12.080360/10.12
.090370 

$110.00 

Skateboards, Skis, Toboggans, and Sleds SMC 10.40.1030 $25.00 
Violation of Bicycle SMC SMC 10.28 $25.00 
Violation of Pedestrian SMC SMC 10.32 $25.00 
Overtime Parking SMC 10.12.040 

SMC 10.12.100240 $25.00 

Parking Permit Violation SMC 10.12.150240 $25.00 
Parking Spaces – Correct Use 
    Required/Wrong Direction  

SMC 10.12.020220 $25.00 

Other Violations of Title 10 Not 
Specifically Listed 

SMC 10 $25.00 

Impound Charge Per Day for City Owned 
Storage 

SMC 10.16.430340 $50.00 + Tow Fees 

Impound Tow Fee  $125.00 
 
PLANNING 
Pre-Application Meeting  2017-18 Fees 
First Meeting Deposit Free 
Subsequent Meeting within one year of first Deposit $300.00 
Application that requires only Staff review Deposit $500.00 
Application requiring Planning Commission Hearing Deposit $1050.00 
 
Applications Requiring Two Public Hearings    
Comprehensive Plan Map and Zone Map Amendment Deposit $1300.00 
Subdivision, Master Plan Development, Site Plan 
Review that includes Annexation 

Deposit 1550.00 

Major Annexation Deposit $4500.00 
 Other Planning Department Applications   
Sign Permits Per Application $25.00 



 
 

 
Resolution No. 962, Adopting Fees And Charges For Various City Services   Page 4 of 7 

Temporary Sign Per Application No Charge 
Change of Use Permits Per Application $25.00 
 Appeals   
Of decisions made by Staff without a public hearing Per Application $250.00 
Of decisions made by the Planning Commission Per Application $400.00 
Vacation of Streets and Alleys Per Application $500.00 
 
MUNICIPAL COURT 
 2017-18 Fees 
Payment Agreement Fee  $25.00 
License Reinstatement Fee  $25.00 
Failure To Appear for Arraignment  $10.00 
Failure to Appear Trial   $100.00 
Trial Fee  $30.00 
Warrant Fee  $50.00 
Appeal Filing  $50.00 
Translator Service  $60.00 
Collection Fee Of Fine Assessed 25% 
 
LIBRARY 
 2017-18 Fees 
Printing- Black & White Per page $0.10 
Printing- Color Per page $0.25 
Overdue items   
Books- Adult Per day $0.25 
Books- Youth Per day $0.10 
DVD Per day $0.25 
Cultural Pass Per day $5.00 
Fees   
Interlibrary loan: mailing & loan cost Actual cost  Actual cost +  $1.00 
Damage or lost materials Actual cost + 

processing fee 
Actual cost + $5.00 
processing fee 

Lost or damaged DVD cases Per item $1.50 
Replace item barcode Per barcode $1.00 
Replaced Damaged AV Cover Per cover $2.00 
Replace Audiobook Actual Cost + 

processing fee 
Actual cost + $8 
processing fee 

Replace Audiobook Case Per Case $8.00 
Replace Cultural Pass Price of membership Price of 

membership 
 Outside city of Stayton Library Card  
Non-Resident Full Service Card Annual household $60.00 
 6 mo.  household $30.00 



 
 

 
Resolution No. 962, Adopting Fees And Charges For Various City Services   Page 5 of 7 

Outside of CCRLS District Card Annual household $70.00 
 6 mo. family $35.00 
Outside of CCRLS Child Card One Card $12.00 
 Two Card $20.00 

Three Cards $28.00 

Meeting Room key deposit (after hours)  $25.00 
Cleaning fee (no food or beverage)  $15.00 
Cleaning fee with food & beverage  $25.00 
Fee for civic group, one side Per hour $15.00 
Fee for civic group, both sides Per hour $20.00 
Fee for Private group, one side Per hour $20.00 
Fee for Private group, both sides Per hour $25.00 
Fee for Commercial group, one side Per hour $25.00 
Fee for Commercial group, both sides Per hour $30.00 
 
PUBLIC WORKS 
 
Site Development Permit: Engineering, Plan Reviews, and Plan ReviewInspections (for 
on-site and off-site public improvements) includes ROW permit. Prior to Permit 
issuance, actual plan review costs will be paid by Applicant. Inspection services will be 
paid for by Applicant after project completion and prior to Notice of Final Completion 
and Acceptance from the City.applicant. 
 2017-18 Fees 
Water, sewer, storm drainage, and street improvements 
where excavation or utility cuts of pavement are required. 

Deposit $250.00 

Minor Partition (1 – 3 lots) Deposit $500.00 
Subdivision (4 – 10 lots) Deposit $2,500.00 
Subdivision (11+ lots) or Master Planned Development Deposit $4,500.00 
Water Quality and Detention Plan and Calculation Review 
(infill lots only) 

Actual $80.00 

 
Right of Way (ROW) Permits 
Type 1: Street tree replacement or installation No Charge 
Type 2: Repair/replace sidewalk and/or driveway 
approach where no street cut is needed $65.00 

Type 3: Sidewalk, driveway approach and/or utilities 
where no street cut is needed. $100.00 

Type 4: Franchise Utility (NW Natural, SCTC, PacifiCorp, 
etc.) 

Per Franchise Agt. or $40.00 

Type 5: Encroachment Permit to use Public ROW (for a 
long term use: awning, billboard, structure, etc.) 

$65.00 

 
Vehicles, per hour FEMA rate 



 
 

 
Resolution No. 962, Adopting Fees And Charges For Various City Services   Page 6 of 7 

Water Service Deposit $75.00 
Sewer Deposit $75.00 
¾” Meter Actual Costs ($350.00 

Minimum) 
1” Meter or larger Actual Costs 
Late Fee $15.00 
Delinquent Shut-off Fee for Non Payment of Bill $20.00 
Water On/Off Service Fee $10.00 
After Hours Call Out Service (after first annual customer 
visit) 

$100.00 

Water Meter Installation Actual Cost 
Water Resolution-858 
Storm Water Resolution-908 
Street Maintenance Fee Resolution-864 
Sewer Resolution-859 
Building permits Per Marion County fee 

schedule 
System Development Charges  
  Parks – per dwelling unit $3,0862,975 
  Water – per 3/4” meter equivalent $3,212097 
  Wastewater – per ¾” meter equivalent $2,393307 
  Transportation – per peak hour trip in downtown area $357344 
                                 per peak hour trip elsewhere $2,597504 
  Stormwater $2,854 
 
FACILITY RENTALS 
 2017-18 2017-18 

Hourly Rate Cleaning 
Community Center   
Civic Organization   
Entire Building $18.00 $80.00 
South End $14.00 $50.00 
North End $10.00 $30.00 
Private Individuals   
Entire Building $23.00 $100.00 
South End $18.00 $65.00 
North End $13.00 $35.00 
Commercial    
Entire Building $28.00 $100.00 
South End $23.00 $65.00 
North End $18.00 $35.00 
Meetings without food are charged the same hourly rate plus 
$15.00 cleaning   

Non-resident surcharge rent plus +25% Above rate 



 
 

 
Resolution No. 962, Adopting Fees And Charges For Various City Services   Page 7 of 7 

Other Fees   
Key not returned Per key $25.00 
Alcohol Beverage Service Permit  Each event $50.00 
 2017-2018 
Alcohol Beverage Cleaning Fee  
($150 refundable if properly cleaned) 

Each event $300.00 

Security (3 hour Min.) (Per officer) Per hour $28.00 
Cancellation Fee Each Event $25.00 
Jordan Bridge or Pioneer Park Concession Stand 1st 3 hrs. $100.00 
Each additional hour Per hour $20.00 
Electrical Panel Key Deposit (cash only) Per key $25.00 
 
This Resolution shall become effective upon its adoption by the Stayton City Council. 

 
ADOPTED BY THE STAYTON CITY COUNCIL THIS 19TH DAY OF JUNE, 2017. 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 
 
Signed:___________, 2017  By:____________________________________________ 
      Mayor Henry A. Porter, Mayor 
 
 
Signed:___________, 2017  ATTEST:_______________________________________ 

 Keith D. Campbell, City Administrator 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
 

__________________________ 
David A. Rhoten, City Attorney 



 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 
TO:   Mayor Henry Porter and the Stayton City Council 
 
FROM:  Cindy Chauran, Associate Accountant 
   Elizabeth Baldwin, Utility Billing Clerk 
 
DATE:   June 19, 2017 
 
SUBJECT:  Monthly Finance Department Report 
  
 
 
Departmental Activity 
 May 2017 April 2017 

Utility Billing   

Number of Bills Mailed 2,676 2,665 

Number of Bills Emailed 0* 387 

Delinquent Notices Sent Out 442 505 

Courtesy Delinquent Notices Sent to Landlords 148 156 

Notified of Impending Shut-Off & Penalty 138 159 

Customers Issued Payment Extensions 32 38 

Customers with Interrupted Services Non-Payment 18 21 

Services Still Disconnected 0 2 

Accounts Payable   

Number of Checks Issued 289 189 

Total Amount of Checks $431,342.37 $808,079.67 
*Transition to new electronic payment provider. 









 
Public Works Monthly Operating Report  Page 1 
June 19th, 2017 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 
TO:   Mayor Henry Porter and the Stayton City Council 
 
FROM:  Lisa Meyer, Administrative Assistant 
 
DATE:   June 19, 2017 
 
SUBJECT:  Public Works Monthly Operating Report for May 2017 
      
KEY ACTIVITIES STATUS 
 
•  WWTP Facility Effluent flows: 51.91 million gallons were treated during May. The highest flow 

was 2.30 million gallons on May 1st and the lowest flow was 1.20 million gallons 
on May 29th. The average flow was 1.67 million gallons. Total rainfall for May 
was 2.90 inches.  

 
• WTP  Highest production day was 2,638,000 gallons on May 24, 2017. 
 
• Water System Replaced 15 meters for Marion Street project.  Installed 4 new meters and 

meter readers.  Repaired meter stop at 1349 Second Avenue and 1841 E. 
Santiam.  Continued with flushing fire hydrant program. 
 

• Streets   Replaced STOP signs.  Swept 167 curb miles and collected 30 cubic yards of 
material.  Mowed City property. 
 

 Parks  Volunteers: 
    Community Service:   Total # of Volunteers = 0, Total # of hours = 0 
    Life skills High School Students:   Total # of Volunteers = 0, Total # of hours = 0 
    Parks Board:  Total # of Volunteers =6, Total # of hours = 7.5 
• Building Permits   

            Permit Type Issued SDC’s Paid 
New Single Family Dwelling 1 $12,802.00 
Residential Building Addition/Alter/Other 2 $0 
Commercial Building Addition/Alter/Other 1 $0 
Electrical 2 $0 
Mechanical  0 $0 
Plumbing 1 $0 

TOTAL 7 $12,802.00 
One (1) Residential SDC = $10,883.00 + $707.00 for Mill Creek SDC + Storm 
Water SDC $1919.00 or $2752.00 



 

 

 

CITY OF STAYTON 

 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 TO: Mayor Henry Porter and the Stayton City Council 

 FROM: Dan Fleishman, Director of Planning and Development 

 DATE: June 19, 2017 

 SUBJECT: Report of Activities for May, 2017 

  

Continued to work with Friends of Old Town Stayton 

Planning Commission meeting held; reviewed one application for development 

Finalized review of Wildlife Meadows subdivision final plat 

Attended meetings of North Santiam River regional tourism marketing committee 

Prepared grant application for TGM grant 

Working with Public Works Department staff, improvements to the Geographic Information 
System continued 

 



 
Monthly Library Report  Page 1 of 1  
 

 
 

CITY OF STAYTON 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 
TO:   Mayor Porter and the Stayton City Council 
 
FROM:  Janna Moser - Library Director 
 
DATE:   June 19, 2017 
 
SUBJECT:  May Library report 
  
 
 
We had two makerspace workshops in May as part of a CCRLS LSTA grant. Children learned 
about electrical current and built a controller using a Makey Makey circuit board and 
conductive materials. Then they used their controller to create a banana piano, a drum set and 
a video game controller. With squishy circuits children created and explored circuits by making 
light up playdough creations with conductive playdough. It was exciting to see them create and 
explore new technology. 
 
The Library Foundation had a sold out crowd for their 5th Annual Santiam Canyon Father 
Daughter Ball. The theme was “Love You to the Moon and Back”. Dads and daughters had a 
delightful time. Thank you to Stayton Public Library Foundation and the generous business 
sponsors that helped make the event possible.  
 
Chemeketa Astronomy Instructor and Stayton High graduate, Chris Claysmith, presented on The 
Great American Eclipse. He was a fantastic speaker and we had a wonderful turnout. We held 
our second Bad Art Night. Adults came for an evening of fun and relaxation and created a 
disasterpiece. The "worst" place winner took home a hideous trophy. It was great fun.  
 
Upcoming events to mark on your calendars: 

• Engineer It - Exploring Ancient Technologies (a program from the University of Oregon’s 
Museum of Natural and Cultural History) June 27th at 3:30pm 

• Teens: Cupcake Wars June 28th at 3:00pm 
• Creature Feature with Steve Lattanzi June 29th at 4:00pm 
• Adults and Teens: DIY Terrariums June 29th at 5:30pm 
• Juggling with Henrik Bothe July 6th at 4:00 pm 
• Who Lived There? (A presentation of Stayton’s historical houses and the families that 

lived there) July 13th at 7pm 
 



TOTAL CHECKOUTS 11,971 11,124 9,957 10,001 10,369 10,040 10,423 9,760 11,054 9,742 10257 114,698 125,970

Self check out 3,997 3,916 3,119 3,066 3,264 2,841 3,273 3,144 3,526 2,834 2991 35,971 42,637

Library2Go (ebooks +) 782 825 747 798 793 838 936 788 926 837 788 9,058 8,893

Non-resident cards             $465.00 $112.00 $200.00 $70.00 $260.00 $155.00 $190.00 $387.20 $105.00 $142.00 $35.00 $2,121.20 $6,996.00

Fines: overdue & lost books $834.93 $591.09 $659.68 $617.02 $1,017.64 $223.41 $503.50 $1,772.11 $1,674.89 $616.00 $1,491.09 $10,001.36 -$12,478.54

Room fees                        $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $250.00 $205.00 $0.00 $257.00 $240.00 $185.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,137.00 $4,135.50

TOTAL $13,259.56 -$1,347.04

In-Person, by phone and computer help 480 508 568 540 576 496 552 456 396 480 471 5,523 5,395

NEW PATRON CARDS 97 67 63 54 69 42 70 71 79 48 57 717 1,051

INTERNET USE 1,035 1,137 933 925 934 922 827 951 1,010 875 881 10,430 13,230

Children & adults at Children's Programs 678 181 360 428 575 411 749 539 601 473 401 5,396 5,618

Teens 55 0 6 15 8 4 11 3 9 12 4 127 326

Adults 13 16 9 17 35 20 21 174 176 137 125 743 619

Outreach 17 300 218 671 609 256 618 693 672 0 0 4,054 6,953

TOTAL 10,320 13,516

MEETING ROOM ATTENDANCE 27 65 97 287 47 61 400 130 108 156 140 1,518 5,889

PATRON VISITS 8,006 7,102 5,675 6,751 7,513 5,359 6,321 6,168 6,876 6,212 6,533 72,516 80,146

VOLUNTEER HOURS 212 260 188 178 171 176 200 183 223 196 195 2,180 2,770

OTHER CIRCULATION SERVICES

INCOME RECEIVED

REFERENCE QUESTIONS

PROGRAM ATTENDANCE

March April May June 2016-17 YTD 2015-16 FY

2016-2017 Monthly Library  Statistics

July August Sept. Oct. Nov. Dec. Jan. Feb.




